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Commissioner Assistant Commissioner

Her Excellency, Governor Kelly A. Ayotte Bureau of Rail & Transit
and the Honorable Council May 1, 2025

State House

Concord, NH 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Transportation to enter into an agreement with Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. (Vendor 177203), Concord, NH, for an amount not to exceed
$2,973,600 for transportation services for the period July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2027, effective upon
Governor and Council approval. 100% Federal Funds.

Funds are anticipated to be available in Fiscal Years 2026 and 2027, upon the availability and continued
appropriation of funds in the future operating budget(s), with the authority to adjust encumbrances
between fiscal years within the price limitation through the Budget Office, if needed and justified:

04-96-96^964010-2916 FY 2026 FY 2027

Public Transportation
072-500575 Grants to Non-Proflts-Federal $ 1,486,800 $ 1,486,800

EXPLANATION

This agreement includes funding from 2 Federal Transit Administration (FTA) programs: §5311 Rural
Area Formula Program and §5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities
Program.

The Department's proposed FY 2026 and 2027 operating budget includes funding from the Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) §5311 Rural Area Formula Program (§5311) that provides funds for
capital, planning, and operating assistance for public transportation in rural areas with populations of less
than 50.000; these transportation services are open to the general public or segments of the general public
defined by age, disability, or low income. Public transportation may include fixed route (with
complementary paratransit service), deviated/flexible routes, and demand response modes of service. The
funds are awarded for existing and new/expansion projects. Agencies apply for funding through a
biannual solicitation in which all proposed projects are evaluated.

Additionally, the Department's proposed FY 2026 and 2027 operating budget also includes funding from
the FTA §5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Program (§5310) that
provides funds for capital, contracted services, and mobility management for seniors and individuals with
disabilities in New Hampshire. Funds for §5310 are allocated to the eight (8) Regional Coordinating
Councils (RCCs) to support coordinated transportation services in each region using a census-based

JOHN O, MORTON BUILDING • 7 HAZEN DRIVE • P.O. BOX 483 • CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03302-0483

TELEPHONE: (6031 271-3734 > FAX: (603) 271-3914 • TDD; RELAY NH 1-800-735-2964 » DOT.NH.GOV



distribution formula. Each individual RCC was responsible for conducting its own project solicitation,
evaluation, and prioritization and then submitting one regional application for eligible §5310 RCC
projects through an approved lead agency voted on by each RCC.
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. (CAPBMCl) is a private, non-profit
organization providing FTA §5311 rural public transportation, including transportation for seniors and
individuals with disabilities, in Concord as Concord Area Transit (CAT).

CAPBMCl will act as the lead agency for Region 3 Mid-State Regional Coordinating Council (MRCC)
to facilitate the provision of accessible demand response transportation services for seniors and
individuals with disabilities within the regions and will support mobility management and strategic
planning activities in cooperation with the Regional Coordination Councils. Region 3 Mid-State Regional
Coordinating Council (MRCC) designated CAPBMCl as their lead agency. As the lead agency,
CAPBMCl is tasked with applying for FTA §5310 RCC funds on behalf of Region 3. As required by
FTA, this project is identified in a locally developed coordinated public transit-human services
transportation plan.

The Department has awarded the following funds for State Fiscal Year 2026-2027 biennium:

•  §5311 Rural Area Formula Program funds (Project 68033B)
o $1,960,000

Details relating to each transit system's evaluation and award are included in the attached §5311
summary sheet.

•  §5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals with Disabilities Program Funds
o $1,013,600

■  Region 3 Mid-State Regional Coordinating Council (Project 68034C);
Details relating to each Region's award are included in the attached §5310 summar>'.

CAPBMCl, in conjunction with its regional partners as applicable, will provide the remaining required
non-federal matching funds. If Federal Funds become unavailable, general funds will not be requested to
support this program.

The Agreement has been approved by the Attorney General as to fonu and execution and the Department
will verify the necessar>' funds are available pending enactment of the Fiscal Year 2026 and 2027 budget.
Copies of the fully executed Agreement are on file at the Secretar)' of State's Office and the Department
of Administrative Services, and subsequent to Governor and Council approval will be on file at the
Department of Transportation.

Your approval of this resolution is respectfully requested.

Sincerely,

William J. Cass, P.E.
Commissioner

Attachments
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SFY 2026-2027 FTA Section 5310 Regional Coordination Council Funds

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals with
Disabilities funds are eligible to support the eight (8) Regional Coordination Councils (RCCsl for coordinated
transportation services in their regions. The RCC's were established by the State Coordinating Council (SCC),
which was developed as a central body to coordinate community transportation services statewide. FTA §5310
program funds are allocated by a census-based, formula distribution to each region for the following projects:

•  Contracted services/mobility management projects - 80% Federal / 20% match
o Contracted services - projects include purchase of transportation services from an entity (volunteer

trips, hours of bus service, etc.)
o Mobility management - projects include coordination efforts & activities, travel training, &

operation of call centers,
o Regional Mobility Managers - funding for Regional Mobility Managers (RMM)

FTA §5310 RCC funds were allocated by region according to a formula primarily based on regional populations
of residents over 65 and those 64 or younger with disabilities to approved lead agencies to facilitate the
provision of accessible demand response transportation services for seniors and individuals with disabilities
within the regions and will support mobility management and strategic planning activities in cooperation with
the Regional Coordination Councils. As required by FTA, each region and projects are identified in a locally
developed coordinated public transit-human services transportation plan.

•a>i •

Region
Lead Agency

(Contract with
NHDOT)

Regional Partners Utilizing Funds

''SFY 2026
Contract

Amount

SFY 2027

Contract

Amount

Two-Year

5310

Contract

: Totals

Region 1

Tri-County
Community Action
Program (TCCAP)

Grafton County Senior Citizens Council
Transport Central
TCCAP

$385,500 $385,500 $771,000
Grafton-Coos

Region 2 Carroll County Retired Senior Volunteer Program
The Gibson Center for Senior Services

TCCAP

$233,000 $233,000 $466,000
Carroll

Region 3 Community Action
Programs Belknap -
Merrimack Counties

(CAPBMCl)

CAPBMCl, RTS

CAPBMCl Volunteer Driver Program
Taxi Voucher

NH Association for the Blind - Future In Sight

$506,800 $506,800 $1,013,600Belknap-
Merrimack

Region 4 1 Southwestern

Community
Services (SCS)

SCS $208,400 $208,400 ; $416,800
Sullivan

Region 5

County of Cheshire

County of Cheshire,
Home Healthcare, Hospice & Community Services,
Community Volunteer Transportation Company,
Monadnock Adult Care Center, Keene Senior Center

$312,200 $312,200 $624,400Monadnock

Region

Region 7 Nashua Regional
Planning
Commission

(NRPC)

Nashua Transit System,
Souhegan Valley Transportation Collaborative

$255,500 $255,500 $511,000Nashua

Region

Region 8
Southern NH

Planning

Commission

(SNHPC)

Manchester Transit Authority
Easter Seals

Catholic Charities

SNHPC

Rockingham Nutrition & Meals on Wheels

$563,100 $563,100 $1,126,200
Southern NH

/ Manchester

Region

Region 10
Cooperative
Alliance for

Seacoast

Transportation
(COAST)

COAST

Ready Rides
Community Rides
Communit>' Action Partnership of Strafford County
(CAPSC) Shuttle
Rockingham Nutrition & Meals on Wheels

$571,000 $571,000 $1,142,000

ACTNH

Seacoast

Region

1^; Total &3,035,500 $3,035,500 $6,071,000



SFY 2026 - 2027 FTA Section 5311 (Rural) Public Transportation Project Funds

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5311 Rural Public Transportation Formula funds are
eligible to support public transportation services in areas with populations of less than 50,000 (rural);
these transportation ser\'ices are open to the general public or segments of the general public defined by
age, disability, or low income. Public transportation may include fixed route (with complementary
paratransit service), deviated/flexible routes, and demand response modes of service. Eligible projects are
limited to Operating Expenses, Administration, Capital Preventive Maintenance, and Capital ADA
Expenses specifically for public transportation in New Hampshire's rural areas. The funds are allocated
for existing and new/expansion projects. Agencies apply for funding through a biannual solicitation in
which all proposed projects are evaluated.

• Operating Expenses - 50% Federal / 50% match

o Net costs directly related to system operations such as fuel, oil, driver, dispatcher salaries,
and fringe benefits.

•  Project Administration - 80% Federal / 20% match

o Costs related to project administrative expenses such as general administrative expenses,
marketing, insurance premiums, office supplies, facilities and equipment rentals, standard
overhead rates, drug, and alcohol testing.

•  Capital Preventive Maintenance (PM) - 80% Federal / 20% match.

o Costs related to all maintenance related to vehicles and non-vehicles including supplies,
materials, labor, services, and associated costs to preserve/extend assets.

• Capital Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Expenses - 80% Federal / 20% match.

o Costs related to complementar>' paratransit ser\'ices to individuals with disabilities who
cannot use the fixed-route services; a minimum of of a mile on either side of the fixed
route.

The Department released a public notice on Februar)' 03, 2025, announcing the availability of §5311
funds. Applications for requested funding were due on March 13, 2025. The Department received
applications from six (6) rural public transit agencies, (see table below)

An evaluation committee that consisted of the Public Transportation Administrator, Transit Grants
Coordinator, and the Transportation Project Specialist, reviewed, evaluated, and scored §5311
applications by consensus based on the below criteria.

Note: Every application met the Department's criteria for inclusion in its SFY 2026 - 2027 public transit
funding plan and will be awarded separate amounts for the aforementioned transit systems. The
Evaluation criteria, scores, transit systems and respective awards are detailed in the tables below.



Evaluation Criteria Weight

Confirmed that proposed service/projects is eligible for 5311 funding - cite Circular C
9040.1H reference if new project.

Y/N

Seniors and persons with disabilities have full access to the applicant's services.
Y/N

The proposed service is a continuation of existing services. (40% will be granted)

New/Expanded projects only: The application details how the proposed service enhances
an existina service or addresses an NHDOT doHcv eoa! (oer Statewide Strateeic Transit

Assessment (SSTA).

40%

^  2 ir/ 1

The applicant has the fiscal and technical capacity and adequate budget to operate its
service and demonstrates successful experience in providing transportation services. This
includes the applicant's compliance with relevant Federal and state regulations and
having a history of compliance with regulations and reporting requirements. New
applicants will need to demonstrate ability to comply with FTA requirements.

30%

>'V ^

3  ̂
r

■

The application demonstrates an effort to involve the private sector in the delivery of
transportation services as well as involvement in and support for the project, financial
and otherwise, on the part of citizens and local government. (Note: This includes
providing evidence of public support for the project from municipal, regional,
institutional and/or private sector partners and describing your efforts to leverage funds
from these partners or other sources to support this project.)

20%

4  i
The application shows coordination with other transportation providers in the service
area: public, nonprofit, and for-profit

10%

100%

5311 Applicant Transit

System

Consensus

Score

FY2026

5311 Funds

FY 2027

5311 Funds

Two-Year 5311

Totals

Advance Transit

(AT), Wilder, VT

Upper Connecticut
River Valley &
Grafton County,
including Hanover
& Lebanon

98% 83,670,000 83,670,000 87,340,000

Community Action
Program Belknap-
Merrimack County,
Inc. (CAPBMCI),

Concord, NH

Concord Area

Transit

98% 8980,000 $980,000 $1,960,000

Community Alliance
for Seacoast

Transportation
(COAST)

COAST segments

of Route 7 between

Exeter & Stratham

(rural as of 2020
Census)

96% 890,000 $90,000 $180,000

Southwestern

Community Services
(SCS)

Sullivan County
Transportation

93% $485,000 $485,000 $970,000

Tri-County
Community Action
Program, Inc.

(TCCAP), Berlin, NH

Carroll County
Transit & North

Country Transit

91% $451,000 $451,000 $902,000

VNA@HCS, Keene,
NH

(Keene) City
Express

91% $277,000 $277,000 $554,000

Totals $5,953,000 $5,953,000 $11,906,000



FORM NUMBER &1 (version 11/2021)

Subject: SFY 2026 - 2027 FTA Section 5311 & SFY 2026 - 2027 FTA Section 5310 RCC Region 3

GRANT AGREEMENT
The State of New Hampshire and the Grantee hereby
Mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS
1. Identification and Definitions.

1.1. State Agency Name

NH Department of Transportation
1.2. State Agency Address

PC Box 483 & Hazen Dr. Concord, NH
03302-0483

1.3. Grantee Name
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.

1.4. Grantee Address |
2 Industrial Park Drive PO Box 1016, 1
Concord. NH 03302-1016

1.5 Grantee Phone#

603-225-3295

1.6. Account Number

04-96-96-964010-2916-0
72-500575

1.7. Completion Date

June 30, 2027

1.8. Grant Limitation

$2,973,600

11 1.9. Grant Officer for State Agency
I Frederick Butler, Public Transportation Administrator,
II Bureau of Rail & Transit

1.10. State Agency Tel^hone Number

603-271-2565

If Grantee is a municipality or village district: '*By signl
any public meeting requirement for acceptance of tbi

Qg this form we certify that we have complied with
s grant including if applicable RSA 31:95-b.**

l.U. Grantee Stgnatijk 1 1.12. Name & Title of Grantee Signor 1

Jeanne Agri - Chief Executive Officer

Gra^eSignatui^ Name & Title of Grantee Signor 2

N/A

Grantee Signature 3
N/A

Name & Title of Grantee Signor 3

N/A

1 1.13 State Agency Signatiire(s) 1.14. Name & Title of State Agency Signor(s)

Michelle Winters, Director of Aeronautics. Rail & Transit

1. AppKwal WAltomey Gomral (Fonn, Substance and Execution) (if G & C approval required)

By:

1.16. Approval by Governor and Council (if applicable)

By: On:

2. SCOPE OF WORK: la exchange for grant funds provided by the State of New Hampshire, acting
through the Agency identified in block 1.1 (hereinafter referred to as "the State"), the Grantee identified in
block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as **the Grantee**), shall perform that work identified and more particularly
described in the scope of work attached hereto as EXHIBIT B (the scope of work being hereinafter referred to
as *Yhc Project").

Page I of 3
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3.

4.

4.1.

42.

S.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

6.

7.

7.1.

72.

8.

S.I.

82.

8.3.

9.

9.1.

ARF.A COVERED. Except as odterwise specifically provided for herein, the
Grantee th"i' perform the Project in, and with respect to, the State of New
Hanqtthire.
EnrRCnVE DATE: COMPLETION OF PROJECT.

This Agreement, ami all dbtigatloos of the parties bereuader, shall become
effective on the date on fire date of approval of this Agreement by the Governor
ami Council of the State of New Hampshire if required (block l.lfi), or upon
signature by fi>e Stale Agency as shown in block 1.14 ("the Effective Date").
Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the P^ect, tacluding all rqwrts
required by fiiis Agreement, shall be completed in ITS cnliitty prior to the d^ in
block 1.7 (hereinalter referred to as "the ConqtletioQ Date").
GRAffT AMOUVT! LIMITATIQN ON AMOUNT; VODCHKRS;
PAYMENT.

The Grant Amount is identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C,
attadred hereto.

The marines of, and schedule of paymeol shall be as set forth in EXHIBIT C.
far accordance with the provisiona set forth in EXHIBrT C, and in consideration
of the sacis&ctory perftmnance of the Project, as detennined by the State, and as
limited by subparagraph 5 J of these general provisions, the State shall pay the
Grantee the Grant Amount. The State shall withhold from the amount otherwise
payable to the Grantee under this subparagraph S3 those sums required, or
permitted, to be wifiibeld pursuant to N.H. RSA 80:7 tbrousb ̂ •c.
The p^ment by die State ofthe Grant amount diall be the only, and the complete
payment to the Oiaotee for ail eipensea, of whatever nature, mcuired by the
Grantee in the perfoimance hereof and ibaO be the only, and the complete,
compensatton to die Oxantee for die Project. The State shall have no liabiCtiea to
the Oratitee other than the Qjant Amount

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, and notwithstanding
unexpected circumstances, in no event shall die total of all payments audiorized,
or actually bereunder exceed (he Grant limitstitt) set fordi in block 1.8 of
these general provitioDS.
COMPLIANCE BY GRANTEE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS. In

with (be perfbnnance of the Project the Grantee shall comply with all
statutes, laws regulations, and orders of fbdmal, state, county, or municipal
authorities which shall impose any obligations or duty upon the Grantee, iiKhiding
the Bcquisitioo of any and all necessary permits and RSA 31 •95-b.
RECORDS and ACCOUNTS.

Between the ESxtive Date and the date seven (7) years after the Con^letion
T>>«- wnW« Otherwise required by the grant tarns or the Agency, the Oiiotec
shall keep detailed accounts of expenses inonred in connection with die
Project, inchidiiig, but not limited to, costs of administration, tranqiortatios,
insurance, calls, and clerical and services. Such accounts
shall be supported by receipts, invoicea, bills and other siinilar documents.
Between the Effective Date and the date seven (7) years after the Completioa
Dale, unless otherwise required by die grant tei^ or the Agency pursuant to
sul^aragr^h 7.1. at any time during the Grantee's normal business bouts, and as
often as die State ^ Grantee shall make available to the State all
records pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement The Grantee shall
permit the State to audit, wfmtTift, and rqiroduce such records, and to make audits
of all contracts, invoices, payrolls, records of petionoel, data (as (hat
term is heretnafter defined), and odier informatioo relating to all matters covered
by diis Agreemeot As used in this paxagiaph, "OtaDtse" includes all persons,
natural or fictional, affiliated widi, controlled by, or under commnn ownership
with, the enti^ idendfled as the Grantee in block 1.3 of diese provisioas
PERSONNEL.

The Grantee diall, at its own eqiense, provide all personnel necessary to perfonn
die Project The Grantee warranu that all personnel engaged in the Project shall
be qualified to pafonu such Project und sl^ be praperty liceoied and aodionzed
to perform audi Project under all qrpUcable laws.
The Grantee diall not bite, and it sbidl not permit any subcootiactor, subgrantee,
or odicr peiaon, firm or corpoiatioii with whom il is engaged in a combing effort
to perform the Project to hire any person who has a contractual rdationdiv mth
the Stats, or who is a State offica or employee, elected or appointed.
The Grant Officer be the represeatatiye of the State bereunder. In the event
of any diqrate haeunda, die inteiia^tioo of this Agreement by the Grant
Officer, and hia/her decision oo soy (Bspute, haO be final.
DATAr RETEhmON OP DATAr ACCESS.

As used in rt*'* Agreement the word "data" shall mean all mfbttsation and (hmgs
devel^ied or thtained during the pafonnance of, or acquired or developed by
reason of^ diis Agreement hictuding. but not limited to, all studies, reports, files,
fonnulae, surveys, charts, sound recordings, video recordings, ptctonal
reproductions, rowings, analyses, grajrfnc rqirescptatiops,

computa propams, cotr^uter printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, paper, and
rinwimgntt, all whrther finished or unfinished.

9.2. Between the Effective Date and (he Completion Date the Grantee shall grant to
die State, or any person designated by it nnreitiicted access to all date

publicstian, uinslatimi, sale, disposal, or for any )
purpose whatsoever.

9.3. No data shall be sidiject to cqiyrigbt in the United States or any other country by
anyone other than the State.

9.4. On and afia the Elective Date all data, and any property which has been received
from the State or pyrrtiawt with fu^ provUed for that puipose under (bis
Agreemoit shall be die pn^ieity of the Stats, and shall be returned to the State
upon demand or igion tenninatioo of this Agreement for soy reason, whicheva
shall first occur.

9.5. The State, and anycme it shall designate, sbaU have unrestricted authority to
publish, disclose, distribute ind otherwise use. In nrbole or in part, all data.

10. CONDITIONAL NATURE OR AGREEMENT. Notwithstanding anydimg in
this Agreement to the contrary, all obligatiras of die State bereunder, including,
without Ufwtfrinn, the contmuaDce of p^ments hereusder, are contingeot upoo
the availability or continued ai^nqiriation of funds, and in no event diall the Slate
be liable for any payments bereundo in excess of such avaiUble or aj^r^riated
ftifiH« fa) the event of a reduction or termination of those funds, the State shall
have die to withhold payment untU such Ainds become available, if ever, and
dial] have the ri^ to tenninaie this Agreement immediately upon giving die
Grantee ntitice ofsuch tennination.

11. EVENT OP DEFAULT: REMEDIES.
11.1. Any one or more of die fbUowing acts or omissions ofthe Grantee shall constitute

an event ofde&ult bereunder (heremafter referred to as "Events of Default");
11.1.1 Failure to perfbim the Project satisfactorily or on schedule; or
11.1.2 Failure to submit any rqpoit required bereimder, or
11.1.3 Faihne to maintain, or petmit access to, the records required bereunder; or
11.1.4 Failure to pcrfora any of die other covenants and coupons ofthb Agreement
\]2. Upon die occurrcocecfaoy Event ofDe&ull, the State may take any one, or more,

or all, of the foOowing actions:
11.2.1 Give the Grantee a written notice qiedfying the Event of De&ult and requiri^ it

to be ronedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser specification of time,
duity (30) days bom die date of die notice; and if die Event of Default is not
timdy ra^ed, tenninate this Agreement effective two (2) days after giving the
Grantee notice oftanunstimi; and

M.2.2 Give the Grantee a writteo notice qwdfying the Event ofDefeutt and susper \
all payments to be made unda this Agreemeni and ordering that the portion c '
Grant Amount which would otherwise accrue to die Grantee duritig the period
from die date of such notice until such time as the State detennincs dat the
Grantee has cured the Event of Defeull riiall never be paid to the Grantee; and

11.23 Saoffagainst any other obligation the State may owe to the Grantee any damages
(he suffers by reasoD ofany Event of Default; and

113.4 TreaitbeagreementasbreadiedaDdpuisueaiiyofitsremediesatlaworinequity,
or both.

12. TERMINATION.

12.1. In the event of any early termination of this Agreement for any reason other than
the completion of die Project, the Grantee shall ddiver to the Grant Officer, not
lata than fifteen (15) days after die date of termination, a report (hereioafter
referred to as die "Tenntnatioo RqiorfO describing in d^I ̂  PitQCCt Work
pfffftyTTwrf tpdtbeO""t AwmmrteMTied, to and including the date oftermiiuitinn
In (be event of Termination under paiagraphs 10 or 12.4 of these gen^

123. provisions, the qqiroval of such a Tennination Report by the State shall entitle
(be Onotee to icceive that portioo of die Giant amount earned to and including
the of tenninatioii.
In the event of Tenninatioo unda paregt^hs 10 or 12.4 of these goieral

12.3. provisions, the approval of such a Tcrminatioa Report by the State doll in oo
event relieve the Grantee from any and all liability for damages sustained or
incunod by the State as a result of the Grantee's breach of its (^ligatioos
hereunda.

Notwithstanding anything in diis Agreement to the contrary, ddia the State or,
12.4. except where notice defkult has been ghren to the Grantee hereunda. ̂Grantee,

may tenninate this Agreement without cause tqioo diirty (30) days written notice.
13. CONFLICT OP INTRRRCT. No ofBca.inenibaofemployee of the Grantee,

and tio representative, offica or onployoe of the State of New Hampshire or of
(he govemittg body of the locality or localities in whid) the Project is to be
performed, who exercises any functions or responsibilitia in the review or

Page 2 of3
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14.

15.

16.

17.

17.1

17.1.1

17.1.2

tq)pn)val of the undertakiog or carrying out of such Project, shall partic^ate in 17.2.
any decision rdatiog to this Agreement whidi affects bis or her personal interest
or the interest of any corporation, partnersh^, or associstioo to which be or she
is directly or iodirectly interested, nor shall be or she have any personal or
pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof
fiRANTRE'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the performance of this
Agreoneot the Oimtec, its employees, and any subcontractor or subgrantee of 18.
the Grantee are b all rejects independent contractors, and are cteither agents
nor employeca of the State, Neither the Grantee nor any of its oflicexs,
employees, agents, tnembeis, subcontisctois or subgrantees, shall have authority
to bind the State nor are they entitled to any of the benefits, workmen's
compensation or emtdumeots provided by the State to its cn^kryces.
A.<»ICNh<RNT AND SUBCONTRACTS. The Oiantee sbiall not assign, or 19.
otherwise transfer any interest in this Agreement without the prior written
consent of dte State. None of the Project Work shall be sub^tracted or
subgraoted by the Grantee other ban as set forth in Exhibit B without the prior
written consent of be State. 20.

INDEMNIFICATION. The Grantee shall defend, indemnify and hold
harmless be State, its officen and employees, from and against any and all
losses suffered by be State, its officers and enqiloyeei, and any and all claims,
liabilities or peoatdes asserted against be State, its ofRccn and employees, by 21.
or on behdf of any person, on account of based on, resulting from, arising out
of (or which may claimed to arise out of) the acts or omissioos of the Grantee
or subcontractor, or subgrantee or otbo- agent of the Grantee. Notwibstanding
the foregoing, nothing boetn contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver
of the sovereign immnnity of the State, wfaidi immunity is berd>y reserved to
be State. This covenant ball survive be termination of this igreemenL 22.
INSURANCE.

The Grantee shall, at its own expense, obtain and mamtatn in force, or shall 23.
require any subcontractor, subgrantee or assignee performing Project work to
obtain and mamtain in frvce, bob fbr be beitefii of (be State, tte following
insurance:

Stattitory workos* compensation and employees liability insurance fm ail 24.
employees engaged in the performance of be Inject, and
General liability insurance against all claims ofbobly injuries, deab or pn^terty
damage, in amounts not less than S1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000
aggregate for bodily mjuiy or deab any one incideat, and $500,000 for property
damage in any one aod

The policies described in tul^wragrapb 17.1 ofthis paragraph shall be be stattdard
form employed in the State ofNew Hampshire, issued by underwriters accqttable
to be State, and auborized to do business in the State ofNewHanqjshire. Grantee
ball fttmib to the State, certificates of for all renewal(s) of insurance
required under bis Agrmment no later than ten (10) days prior to be eqniation
date of each insurioce pbicy.
WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by be State to enforce any provisions
hereofafter any Event ofDefault shall be deemed a waivaof its rights wib regard
to bat Event, or any subsequent Event No express waiverofany Event ofDefault
ball be a waiver of any provirions hereof. No such Crilure of wan-er
ball be a waiver of the of the State to enforce each and all of the

provisions hereof upon any ftuther or otho definih on the part ofbe Grantee.
NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party shall be deemed to have
been duly delivered or given at be time of mailing by certified mail, postage
prepaid, in a United States Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses
first above given.
AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only
by an instrument in writing rigned by be parties hereto artd only after iqtproval of
such amendment, waiver or disdiarge by be Governor attd Council of be State
ofNew Hampshire, if required or by be signing State Agency.
CONSTRUCTION QE AGREEMENT AND TERMS. ThU Agreement shall
be construed in accordance wib be law of be State of New Hampshue. and is
binding upon and inures to be benefit of be parties and beir respective successors
and assignees. The cqjtions and contents of the "sulgect" blank are used only as
a matter of convetiience, and are not to be considend a part of bb Agreement or
to be used in detcnnining be mtend of be patties hereto.
thikD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to benefit any bird parties
and this Agreement shall not be construed to confer any such benefit
ENTIRE AGREEMENT. Thb Agreement, which may be executed in a number
of counterparts, each of v^iich diall be deemed an orif^nal, constitutes the entire
agyeaneot and iin»<«TWtwting between the ptitiea, and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings rdating hereto.
SPECIAL PROVISIONS. The additional or modifying provisoes set forth in
Exhibit A hereto are incorporated as part of bis agreement.

Page 3 of3
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.

EXHIBIT A

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

A.l. Amend G-1 Section 2. "SCOPE OF WORK" by adding the following:

2.1. The Grantee may change services as described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services (hereinafter the
"Services") only with the prior written agreement of the State and in accordance with applicable
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements.

A.2. Amend G-1 Section 3. "AREA COVERED" by adding the following:

3.1. Services may extend to adjacent states with prior written approval from the State. The State
reserves the right to require formal cost allocation measures.

A.3. Amend G-1 Section 5. "GRANT AMOUNT: LIMITATION ON AMOUNT: VOUCHERS:

PAYMENT" by adding the following:

5.6. As applicable based on Federal participation ratios, the amount paid by the State to the Grantee
shall not exceed 50% of allowable operating costs less fare revenues plus 80% of allowable
administrative and capital costs. Operating, administrative, and capital costs are identified in
Exhibit C. The Grantee shall provide and document the availability of local funds sufficient to
meet the project cost more than the Grant Price Limitation.

5.7. In the event that revenues exceed the total allowable costs, said revenues in excess of total
allowable costs shall be placed in an interest-bearing account within 30 days of the Completion
Date and made available to the State upon demand.

5.8. The Grantee shall submit a request for payment to the State on a form specified by the State on a
monthly or quarterly basis, together with all information to support the request. Such requests for
payment shall be properly completed and signed. Requests for payments must be for allowable
costs only as defined in 2 CFR Part 200. No requests for advance payment will be accepted by
the State.

5.9. Upon receipt of the request for payment, the State shall review the request to determine the
allowability of costs. In connection with this review, the State may demand production of (and
the Grantee shall produce) and inspect any documents and records described in Section 7.

5.10. Within 30 days of receipt of the request for payment and other documents and records required
by the State, the State shall determine the allowability of costs and the amount due and owing to
the Grantee and shall pay said amount, subject to other provisions of this Agreement.

5.11. Final Payment. The Grantee's provision of all reports required under this Agreement is a
condition precedent to final payment.

A.4. Amend G-1 Section 6. "COMPLIANCE BY GRANTEE WITH LAWS AND

REGULATIONS" by adding the following:

6.1. The Grantee shall post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for
employment, notices setting forth the provisions of the Federal Title VI non-discrimination
requirements.

6.2. The Grantee shall state, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees, that all qualified
applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, age, creed,
sex, or national origin.
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6.3. The provisions of 2 CFR 200 shall apply to local administration of this agreement and any
subgrantee under this agreement.

A.5. Amend G-1 Section 12. "TERMINATION*' by adding the following:

12.5. The Termination Report must be approved by the State and the Federal Transit Administration
(ETA) prior to final payment.

12.6. Completion of Services; Payment of Price. Excepting those obligations of the Grantee which, by
the terms of this Agreement, do not expire on the Completion Date, upon the completion of the
Services and upon payment of the Grant Price, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hereunder, shall cease and neither party shall have further recourse under the Agreement.

A.6. Amend G-1 Section 9. "DATA; RETENTION OF DATA; ACCESS" by adding the
following:

9.6. The following restrictions apply to all subject data first produced in the performance of this
Agreement:

9.6.1 Except for its own intemal use, the Grantee may not publish or reproduce such data in
whole or in part, or in any manner or form, nor may the Grantee authorize others to do so,
without the written consent of the State, until such time as the FTA may have either
released or approved the release of such data to the public.

9.6.2 As authorized by 2 CFR 200. the FTA reserves a royalty-free, non-exclusive and
irrevocable license to reproduce, publish and otherwise use, and to authorize others to
use, for Federal purposes, any work developed under a grant, cooperative agreement,
sub-grant, or third party grant, irrespective of whether a copyright has been obtained; and
any rights of copyright to which a recipient, sub-recipient, or third party contractor
purchases ownership with Federal assistance.

9.7. It is the FTA's intent to increase the body of mass transportation knowledge. Therefore, the
Grantee understands and agrees that in addition to the rights set forth in 9.6 (b) above, the FTA
may make available to any grantee or subgrantee its license in the copyright to the date derived
under this Agreement or a copy of the data first produced under this Agreement.

9.8. The Grantee shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless the State and United States, their officers,
agents, and employees acting within the scope of their official duties against any liability,
including costs and expenses, resulting from any willfiil or intentional violation of the proprietary
rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, arising out of the publication, translation, reproduction,
delivery, use, or disposition of any data furnished under this Agreement.

9.9. Nothing contained in this clause shall imply a license to the United States under any patent or be
construed as affecting the scope of any license or other right otherwise granted to the United
States imder any patent.

9.10. Sections 9.4, 9.5, and 9.6 above are not applicable to material furnished to the Grantee by the
State or United States and incorporated in the work furnished under the agreement, provided that
such incorporated material is identified by the Grantee at the time of delivery of such work.

9.11. If the project is not completed for any reason, all data developed under the project shall become
subject Data as defined in Section 9.1 and shall be delivered as the State or the FTA may direct.
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A.7. Amend G-1 Section 15. "ASSIGNMENTS/AND/SUBGRANTEES" by adding the foUowing:

15.1 The Grantee shall cause the provisions of this grant to be inserted in all subgrants for any work
covered by this Agreement so that the provisions will be binding on each subgrantee; provided,
however, that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to subgrantees for standard commercial
supplies or raw materials. The Grantee shall take such action with respect to any subgrant as the
State may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance.
The Grantee shall ensure that any subgrantee has obtained all licenses, permits or approvals
required for the performance of grant Services.

A.8. Amend G-1 by adding "DEFINITIONS" as Section 25:

25. DEFINITIONS

ALLOWABLE COSTS: Costs that are incurred in the performance of the Services which
satisfy the requirements of 2 CFR 200.

FTA: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration

PROJECT APPLICATION: The narrative, charts, figures and/or maps submitted to the State
detailing the scope of the public transportation program of the Grant as modified and approved
by the State.

REVENUE: Fares from individuals or other direct income for the public transportation services
being provided by the Grantee. Revenues also include funds from subgrants, contracts, purchase
of service agreements, and excess matching funds that directly benefit the transportation service.

SECTION 5310: FTA Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals with Disabilities program

SECTION 5311: FTA Formula Grants for Rural Areas program

STATE: The State ofNew Hampshire, acting through the Department of Transportation, Bureau
of Rail and Transit.

A.9. Amend G-1 by adding "ACCOUNTING, BOOKKEEPING AND REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS" as Section 26:

26. ACCOUNTING, BOOKKEEPING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

26.1. Ledgers. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall establish and maintain ledger sheets for each budget
category. Entries shall be made and shall reflect the fmancial activities of the Grantee. The ledger
sheet must be in a form approved by the State. The ledger will indicate the fimds remaining in each
line item of the Grant Budget at the beginning of each month. Entries shall be made on a running
basis and carried over to the following month; that is, figures will be brought forward cumulatively.
Grantee shall also prepare and submit to the State a profit and loss statement quarterly if such
information is not provided with invoices.

26.2. Accoants Receivable. The Grantee and/or subgrantee shall deposit all revenue in an interest-
bearing account with a banking institution in this State. Grantee shall prepare and maintain receipt
vouchers for all revenue. Immediately upon receipt, Grantee and/or subgrantee shall credit all
revenue to the appropriate receipt account. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall establish and maintain
an Accounts Receivable Ledger. The receipt number appearing in the Ledger shall correspond to
the receipt voucher number. A receipt voucher must be completed on a form approved by the State
and shall identify each component of every deposit. All appropriate supporting documents for each
deposit should be attached to the receipt voucher.
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26.3. Payables. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall prepare vouchers to document all expenditures of funds.
The voucher shall include the following information and shall be prepared on a form approved by
the State: The Division and account numbers from which the funds will be drawn, the date of
expenditure, a voucher number running in sequence, and any appropriate comments supporting the
expenditure of funds (e.g., invoices and payroll vouchers). All invoices received by the Grantee
shall be checked for accuracy and allowability. Each invoice must be approved for payment by the
Grant Manager or designee. Immediately upon payment, Grantee and/or subgrantee shall make
entries to the appropriate ledger sheets documenting payment. (Each subgrantee shall identify a
Grant Manager).

26.4. Voucher and Receipt Register. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall establish and maintain two
registers that will contain a running total of all payable receipt vouchers. The registers will provide
a summary of voucher or receipt numbers, amount, and purpose of action. No self-designated
abbreviations are to be used.

26.5. Check Register. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall maintain a check register. This register is also
considered a book of original entry and is posted to the ledger immediately.

26.6. Time Sheet, Taxes, and Benefits. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall require each of its employees
to 1) submit weekly time reports designating work performed and time spent on such work, or 2)
be included in an indirect cost allocation plan approved by the cognizant Federal agency. The
Grantee shall summarize time reports by task and apply employee's rates of pay to the hours
worked. The Grant Manager shall review completed and signed time reports and cause them to be
posted to the appropriate category in the general ledger. The Grantee shall maintain records of
employee payroll and benefits and shall post this information to the appropriate category in the
generi ledger. The Grant Manager shall ensure that all payments are on a timely basis.

26.7. Reimbursements. On a monthly basis, the Grantee shall submit a description of Grant activities,
in a format as required by the State. Should the Grantee show a profit for any month, the Grantee
shall apply the amount of profit against subsequent reimbursement requests. The Grantee shall
agree to provide information in addition to the monthly narrative at such times and in such manner
as the State may require, and to prepare any reports which may be requested by the State including
but not limited to a final or termination report if operations cease.

26.8. Maintenance of Records. The Grantee shall keep and maintain the records, documents, and
accounts described herein for a period of three years after the FTA grant is closed. The Grantee
shall maintain, and make available to the State and the FTA, records relating to complaints and
comments received from the public. In the event the State disputes the Grantee's operations or
records as submitted for payment or otherwise, final resolution shall rest with the State.

26.9. Audits and Inspections. Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date, and for a period of
three (3) years after the FTA grant is closed or the date of resolution of all matters relating to this
Agreement, whichever is later, at any time during the Grantee's normal business hours, and as often
as the State or the FTA may demand, the Grantee shall make available to the State and the FTA or
their designees all records pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement. The Grantee shall
permit the State and the FTA to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make audits of
all contracts, grants, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel. Data (as defined in G-1
section 9.1) and other information relating to all matters covered by this Agreement. As used in
this paragraph, "Grantee" includes all persons, natural or fictional, affiliated with, controlled by, or
under common ownership with, the entity identified as the Grantee in 1.3 of G-1.

26.10. Independent Audit. The Grantee shall submit one audit done by one Certified Public Accountant
(CPA) for the entire project, or, as the State may require, for any part of the project upon demand.
Monies required for payment of the audit shall be set aside in the Grant Budget for that specific
purpose.

26.10.1 In the event the audit reveals that monies are due and owing to the State from the
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Grantee, for whatever reasons, the Grantee shall pay to the State such sums within thirty
(30) days of the audit date.

26.11. The Grantee shall submit quarterly performance, drug and alcohol, and charter activity reports
within 30 days of the end of each quarter and shall submit any forms, information or reports
required by the State to complete the FTA's National Transit Database (NTD) reporting.

26.12. General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS). The Grantee shall generate and keep updated General
Transit Feed Specification (GTFS) data and submit related data for reporting to the National Transit
Database (NTD) as required. The Grantee shall submit related data to the State upon request.

A.10. Amend G-1 by adding "PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY" as Section 27:

27. PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY. The following terms and conditions
apply to all equipment and real property purchased in whole or in part with funds provided
though this or other Agreements between the State and the Grantee:

27.1. All procurements shall be made in accordance with 2 CFR 200 and FTA Circular 4220. IG and
future amendments, and with Buy America requirements, 49 CFR Parts 661 and 663.

27.2. All vehicles shall be purchased by the State unless the Grantee has received prior approval from
the State to procure vehicles.

27.3. All other equipment with a cost more than five hundred ($500) per unit shall be purchased by
the Grantee subject to the prior approval of the State.

27.4. Title to all project equipment funded or otherwise provided by the Grantee shall be in the name
of the Grantee; provided, however, that the Grantee shall give the State a security interest in all
such equipment at the time of purchase and shall execute financing statements and do all other
acts necessary or useful to the perfection of that interest and the renewal thereof. In connection
with the purchase of any motor vehicles pursuant to this Agreement, the Grantee shall give the
State a security interest in the motor vehicles at the time of purchase and shall take all steps
necessary to protect the State's security interest, including taking steps to identify the State as a
lien holder of such motor vehicles on the motor vehicle titles.

27.5. In the event that this Agreement is terminated, all project equipment and property become the
property of the State, and it is understood and agreed diat legal title to such equipment shall be
transferred to the State as soon as feasible. Project equipment will be disposed of in accordance
with FTA Circular 9040. IH and the State Management Plan unless written approval is received
from the State.

A.11. Amend G-1 by adding "EQUIPMENT CERTIFICATION" as section 28:

28. EQUIPMENT CERTIFICATION. The Grantee shall maintain a current inventory hsting of
all Project Equipment and Real Property involved in this Agreement. The Grantee shall submit
to the State a certification that the Project Equipment and Real Property as referenced in Section
27, is still being used in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. The inventory listing and
equipment certification shall be supplied to the State on an annual basis.

A.12. Amend G-1 by adding "EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE" as section 29:

29. EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE. The Grantee shall be responsible for the maintenance
and repair of all equipment used in the Services described in Exhibit D. The Grantee shall
maintain all such equipment at a high level of cleanliness, safety, and mechanical soundness. The
Grantee shall certify that a proper maintenance plan that meets or exceeds the original equipment
manufacturer's preventive maintenance guidelines is followed. Vehicle maintenance plans must
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be approved by the Grantee's Board of Directors. All maintenance, repair and physical
improvement activities on equipment shall be conducted by the Grantee and at a location
specified by the Grantee. The Grantee shall notify the State of any changes in this location. The
Grantee further agrees to maintain, repair, or make any physical improvement to equipment as
requested by the State. The State, the FTA, and/or their designees shall have the right to conduct
periodic inspections for the purpose of confirming proper maintenance and repair.

A.13. Amend G-1 by adding "REPAIR RECORDS AND REPORTS" as secHon 30:

30. REPAIR RECORDS AND REPORTS. The Grantee shall maintain a complete and up to date
record of all motor vehicle repairs and shall make such records available to the State and the FTA
upon demand.

A.14. Amend G-1 by adding "VEHICLE STORAGE" as section 31:

31. VEHICLE STORAGE As applicable, with respect to any motor vehicles purchased in whole or
part under this Agreement, or maintained under this Agreement, the Grantee shall park or garage
each vehicle to ensure maximum available protection and safety for each vehicle. The Grantee
shall also ensure that each vehicle will be parked or garaged in such a manner that its daily
operations are not impaired or curtailed by conditions of weather or any other circumstances. The
Grantee shall notify the State of the location of the parking or garaging site and any relocation.

A.15. Amend G-1 by adding "TRAINING AND DRIVER REVIEW" as section 32:

32. TRAINING AND DRIVER REVIEW. The State may require participation in training courses
determined to be essential to FTA program management in this grant period and may require
participation in such training programs as it deems necessary by drivers and other employees
involved in the transportation of the public. Training may include defensive driving, passenger
assistance, emergency procedures and periodic refresher training every three (3) years. The
Grantee agrees that the State shall have the right to review the performance of all drivers who are
employed in connection with this Agreement, and to disallow the use of any driver whose
performance as a driver is determined to be unsatisfactory by the State.

A.16. Amend G-1 by adding "SAFETY REQUIREMENTS" as section 33:

33. SAFETY REQUIREMENTS. As applicable, all project equipment shall be inspected and
certified by the Department of Safety and shall meet all applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety
Standards and Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations as required by the United States
Department of Transportation, and by the New Hampshire Department of Safety under RSA
266:72-3. in the purchase and operation of all project equipment.

33.1. As applicable, the Grantee shall provide the State with full, and prompt written notification
of any accident involving any vehicle used in its Services. In addition, the Grantee shall be
responsible to report any accident in compliance with State law.

33.2. The Grantee shall submit to the State by February 15 of each year a report covering the
previous year (January 1 through December 31), summarizing the results of its alcohol
misuse prevention and anti-drug programs on FTA approved forms. This shall be in
compliance with 49 CFR Part 655.

33.3. The Grantee shall submit any data/documentation related to FTA's Transit Asset
Management or Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan purposes as required by
NHDOT for compliance purposes.

A.17. Amend G-1 by adding "SERVICE LIMITATIONS" as section 34:



Revised 04/17/2025

34. SERVICE LIMITATIONS. The Grantee shall not engage in the provision Services other than
those described in Exhibit B, or outside the service area described in Exhibit B, without the
written consent of the State and, as applicable, without obtaining the appropriate operating
authority. The Grantee shall not engage in charter or school bus operations except as permitted
hy 49 CFR Parts 604 and 605. respectively.

A.18, Amend G-1 by adding "GRANTEE REPRESENTATIONS" as section 35:

35. GRANTEE REPRESENTATIONS. The Grantee warrants that with respect to the Services to
be performed, it has obtained all licenses, permits, or approvals which are required by any law,
order or regulation of any authority, state or federal, or which may be necessary for the
performance of the Services hereunder. The Grantee warrants that all personnel engaged in the
Services shall be qualified to perform such Services and shall be properly licensed and authorized
to perform such Services under all applicable laws.

A.19. Amend G-1 by adding "LABOR PROVISIONS" as section 36:

36. LABOR PROVISIONS. The Grantee agrees to adhere to the terms and conditions of the Unified
Protective Arrangement, Section 5333(b) of 49 USC 53 or as amended, incorporated herein for
the protection of the employees of any employer providing transportation services assisted by
this Agreement, and the employees of any other surface transportation providers in the
transportation service area identified in Exhibit B.

A.20. Amend G-1 by adding "PATENT RIGHTS" as section 37:

37. PATENT RIGHTS. If any invention, improvement, or discovery of the Grantee is conceived or
first actually reduced to practice during or under this grant, which invention, improvement or
discovery may be patentable under the laws of the United States or any foreign country, the
Grantee shall immediately notify the State and provide a detailed report. The rights and
responsibilities of the Grantee and the State with respect to such invention, improvement, or
discovery will be determined in accordance with applicable Federal laws, regulations, policies,
and any waiver thereof.

A.21. Amend G-1 by adding "BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION" as section 38:

38. BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION. The Grantee warrants that it has not employed or
retained any company or person, other than a bona-fide employee working solely for the Grantee,
to solicit or secure tiiis Agreement; and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any company or
person, other than a bona-fide employee working solely for the Grantee, any fee, commission,
percentage, brokerage fee, gifts or any other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the
award or making of this Agreement. For breach or violation of this warranty, the State shall have
the right to annul this Agreement without liability or, in its discretion to deduct fi"om the
Agreement price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the fiill amount of such fee, commission,
percentage, brokerage, brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee.



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP AND MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.
EXHIBIT B

SCOPE OF SERVICES

1. The Grantee, Community Action Program Belknap and Merrimack Counties, Inc.,
(hereinafter the "Grantee") shall provide the following public transportation service(s):

a. Fixed Route, demand-responsive, and/or route deviation public transit services in
the Greater Concord Area as detailed in the "Project Description" of the Grantee's
application to the New Hampshire Department of Transportation, Bureau of Rail
and Transit (hereinafter "the State") for Federal Transit Administration (FTA)
Section 5311 funding. The Grantee's application is hereby incorporated by
reference and made part of this agreement.

b. Serve as the lead agency for Region 3 Belknap-Merrimack, for FTA Section 5310
RCC ftmds to provide accessible transportation services to seniors and individuals
with disabilities in cooperation with the Region 3 Belknap-Merrimack RCC. The
Grantee's 5310 RCC grant application is hereby incorporated by reference and
made part of this agreement. The Grantee agrees to provide all services indicated
in the grant application unless modified per this agreement.

2. The following terms and conditions apply to all of the FTA Section 531 l-fimded public
transit services provided by Grantee pursuant to this agreement:

a. The State may require the Grantee to provide additional transportation services or
to reduce transportation services provided under this contract. Any alterations to
such transportation services shall be submitted in writing by the State to the
Grantee. The Grantee shall implement the alterations within thirty (30) days
unless a different timefi*ame is agreed to by the State and the Grantee.

b. The Grantee may request to revise transportation services, as submitted in the
Grantee's grant application to the State, to add, reduce, or adjust transportation
services provided under this contract. Any alterations to such transportation
services, including alterations for the provision of service to special events, shall
be requested in writing by the Grantee to the State for approval at least 30 days in
advance. Revisions subject to a public comment period shall be requested at least
60 days in advance. Upon approval of the State, the Grantee shall implement any
alterations within thirty (30) days unless a different timeframe is agreed to by the
State and the Grantee.

c. The Grantee shall not change, add, or delete any route or make any fare, service,
or operating schedule adjustments without the prior written agreement of the
State, except in an emergency situation. In such an emergency, the Grantee shall
notify the State no later than the next working day following the day of such
changes. Such emergency changes will be valid for a maximum of five days;
thereafter, the written approval of the State shall be required to continue such
emergency changes.

d. All project vehicles, including those Federally funded vehicles outlined in Exhibit
D, Project Equipment, as identified by their Vehicle Identification Numbers, as



well as any additional vehicles utilized for the project, shall be used in accordance
with all applicable Federal and State laws as well as NHDOT requirements.

3. The following terms and conditions apply to all of the FTA Section 5310-funded services
for seniors and individuals with disabilities provided by Grantee pursuant to this
agreement:

a. The State may require the Grantee to provide additional transportation services or
to reduce transportation services provided under this grant. Any alterations to
such transportation services shall be submitted in writing by the State to the
Grantee. The Grantee shall implement the alterations within thirty (30) days
unless a different timeframe is agreed to by the State and the Grantee.

b. Mobility management activities, and as applicable, transportation services,
subgrantees, and maximum reimbursement rates, shall consist of those submitted
in the Grantee's 5310 Regional Coordinating Council (RCC) application or as
subsequently modified by NHDOT through written notification to the Grantee.
Further amendments to mobility management activities, transportation services,
subgrantee's, and/or maximum reimbursement rates require RCC approval, as
documented in official minutes, as well as written approval from the State.

c. Eligible Regional Mobility Manager expenses shall be limited to those directly
related to the position's role as described within the 2016 ''New Hampshire
Statewide Coordination of Communitv Transportation Services Plan" and/or
within the most recent ̂ 'New Hampshire Statewide Mobility Manager Network: A
Blueprint for Implementation", both hereby incorporated by reference. Roles may
be further modified based on those recommended by the Statewide Coordinating
Council (SCC) and approved in writing by the State.

d. All services provided shall conform to FTA Section 5310 guidelines. Per FTA
requirements, the Grantee shall be responsible for oversight of subgrantees and
contractors relative to FTA requirements.

e. The Grantee shall ensure the provision of ADA-accessible services within the
RCC region. Any marketing materials, brochures, and other service information
shall describe it as ADA-accessible. It is acceptable for a subgrantee/lower tier
subrecipient that does not utilize accessible vehicles to contract with an accessible
provider in order to meet this requirement.

f. The Grantee must fulfill its contractual obligations and provide its scope of
services throughout the grant period regardless of expenses exceeding the
maximum allowed to be reimbursed. As necessary, the Grantee shall establish trip
priorities to ensure funds are not expended prematurely.

g. The State may require the Grantee to provide additional transportation services or
to reduce transportation services provided under this grant. Any alterations to
such transportation services shall be submitted in writing by the State to the
Grantee. The Grantee shall implement the alterations within thirty (30) days
unless another timeframe is agreed to by the State and the Grantee.



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP AND MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.
EXHIBITS

BUDGET

The Grant price, as defined in Section 1.8 of the General Provisions, are FTA Section 5311 and
Section 5310 portions of the eligible project costs. Federal (FTA) funds are granted as follows:

REGION 3 CAPBMCI

FTA Section 531lTPro|^68033B... " .sFY:-2'026/.:.:-y- •: :SFY 2027. . .

Administration $350,000 $350,000

Canital Preventive Maintenance $120,000 $120,000

Capital ADA $80,000 $80,000

Operating $430,000 $430,000

TdtflflT'ASilTPerYear" \-- • ?r$98o;ooo>' '$980,000:

FTA'Swtiori 5310 RCC- Prbicct'(68034G ' i U v ^ V. i SFy:2027/

Contracted Services $270,000 $270,000

Mobility Management Activities $121,800 $121,800

Regional Mobility Manager $115,000 $115,000

-totarFTA''5310RCCFuh(lih£Pe'rYM I .:r.-^$506,800;"

;Twbivear FTA'5310:ReCTdH!s^

•Tfttfll'F^erariTTAVFunas^Pw^eai^^-'?' :V^;$i;486,80dj'i'i§^:$l;486,800:

•Total Tv^YeaT..Graht'Fuhtis^^^^^^ !::v^'V;^:'i';v3vS2,973;i500^' .

a.

b.

n. Not less than fourteen days prior to the submission of the Grantee's first request for reimbursement,
the Grantee shall submit to the State a budget incorporating all funds to be expended in the
provision of services pursuant to this Grant.

Budget revisions may be made with written approval of the State. Also, approval by the
appropriate Regional Coordination Council (RCC) is required for 5310 RCC budget
revisions.

At the sole discretion of the State, the Grantee may carry forward any unexpended
portion of the federal funds included in the Grant Price to a subsequent Grant, if any,
between the State and the Grantee.

III. The Grantee may seek reimbursement for these funds by submitting a monthly or quarterly invoice
for the total eligible expenses, less agency match as applicable, to the State.

a. The invoice must include verification of source(s) of matching funds and statements fi"om
service providers, as applicable, to support the request for matching funds.

IV. Mobility management costs shall be itemized and include such information as required to suppprt
the request.

a. The Grantee will verify that trip reimbursement is for non-Medicaid-eligible trips only.

V. For expenses other than contracted services, the Grantee may seek reimbursement only for eligible
expenses listed in the budget and detail-of-cost form provided by the State, except for funds
specifically reserved, if any, and identified in "Specifically Programmed Funds," at the end of this
Exhibit.



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.
EXHIBIT D

VEHICLE LIST

Transit Vehicles: 16

2015 Ford E-450 Glaval Universal 1FDFE4FS0FDA23125

2016 Ford E450 16 & 2 Passenger Bus #615 1FDFE4FS7GDC56663

2017 FORD E450 #617 1FDFE4FS2HDC49296

2017 Ford E450 16 pass, #120 1FDFE4FS9HDC78567

2017 Ford E450 Bus 12 pass, #119 1FDFE4S5HDC78565

2017 Ford E450, #616 1FDFE4FS7HDC46247

2018 Eldorado National Passport, #121 5WEASC8N7JH323851

2018 Eldorado National Passport, #122 5WEASC8N9JH323852

2019 Coach & Equipment Phoenix #619 1FDFE4FS1KDC68672

2019 Coach & Equipment Phoenix, #123 1FDFE4FS4KDC71436

2019 Coach & Equipment Phoenix, #618 1FDFE4FS8KDC68670

2021 El Dorado Passport 5WEEZC8N0MH192327

2021 FordE450 Bus #1124 1FDFE4FN4MDC14966

2021 FordE450 Bus #1125 1FDFE4FNXMDC14297

2021 FordE450 Bus #1126 1FDFB4FN0MDC14289

2021 Ford E450 Bus #1620 1FDFE4FN1MDC14298



State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

1, David M. Scanlan, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that COMMUNITY ACTION

PROGRAM BELKNAP AND MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC. is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered

to transact business in New Hampshire on May 28, 1965.1 further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of

State's office have been received and is in good standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 63021

Certificate Number: 0007142225

%

5?
fia.

<5^

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 1st day of April A.D. 2025.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM
BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC.
EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES SINCE 1965

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY

1, Christopher J. Pvles. President. Board of Directors, hereby certify that:

1. 1 am a duly elected officer of Community Action Program Belknab^Meitimack Counties. Inc.

2. The following Is a true copy of a vote taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors Executive
Committee, duty called and held on March 13. 2025. at which a quorum of the Directors were
present and voting.

VOTED: That Jeanne AgrI, Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director, Michael Tabory,
Chief Operating Officer/Deputy Director, Jill Lesmerises, Chief Fiscal Officer, Steven
Gregoire, Budget Analyst, Christopher J. Pyles, Chair, Board of Directors are duly
authorized on behalf of Communitv Action Program Beikhao-Merrimack Counties. Inc. to enter

Into contracts or agreements with State of New Hampshire and any of Its agencies or departments
and further Is authorized to execute any and all documents, agreements and other Instruments,
and any amendments, revisions, or modifications thereto, which may in his/her judgment be
desirable or necessary to effect the purpose of this vote.

3. 1 hereby certify that said vote has not been amended or repealed and remains in full force and
effect as of the date of the contract/contract amendment to which this certificate is attached. This
authority was valid thirty (30) days prior to and remains valid for thirty (30) days from the date of this
Certificate of Authority. I further certify that it Is understood that the State of New Hampshire will
rely on this certificate as evidence that the person(s) listed above currently occupy the position(s)
indicated and that they have full authority to bind the corporation. To the extent that there are any
limits on the authority of any listed Individual to bind the corporation in contracts with the State of
New Hampshire, all such (Imitations are expressly stated herein.

Dated: ^ Signature of Elected Officer
Name: Christoph^i^. Pyles
Title: Presldeiit Board of^lrectors

MaiTlwg Addzess P.O. Box 1016, Concord, NH 03302 Adminittrative Office 8 Old Suncook Road, Concord, NH
Phone: 603 225-3295 | 1 800 856-5525 TTY/TDD 1 800 735-2964 Fax: 603 228-1898

WetMite: capbm.o^



y\doRD' CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

01/17/2025

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER. AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

)PORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDmONAL INSURED, the pollcy(Ie8) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. i !
.1 SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement A statement on

PRODUCER

Cross Insurance-Manchester

1100 Elm Street

Manchester 03101

Stephanie Peffer

(603)669-3218 (603)64&4331

nianch.certs@crossagency.com

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC#

iMsi iRPR A ■ Selective Insurance Co. of SO 19259

INSURED

Community /Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties Inc.

P.O. Box 1016

Concord NH 03302

INSURER B: Gronlte Stale Health Care and Human Services Self-
INSURERC: Federal lnsCo 20281

INSURER 0:

MSURER E;

INSURER F:

THIS IS TO CERTlPi' THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWriHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

THSRI
TYPE OF INSURANCE POUCY NUMBER

wuevspp
IMM/DO/YYYY) (MM/D0/YYYY1 LOirrs

LTR illU'lliVi'l

X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAJMSMAOE OCCUR

X

GENT AGGREGATE UMITAPPLIES PER:

POUCY
^ PRO.

JECT LOC

OTHER; Professional Liability

S 2509940 10/01/2024 10/01/2025

EACH OCCURRENCE
■roSKBTTCTOfTTEB
PREMISES (Ea oecufTWwal

MED EXP (Any ona paraon)

PERSONAL a ADV INJURY

GENERAL AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS. COMP/OPAGG

Professional UabPity
SINGLE UMR'COMBINED

1.000.000

1,000.000

20.000

1,000.000

3,000,000

3.000.000

1,000,000

AUTOMOBILE UABIUTY

ANY AUTO

lEa «cci(l«nt)
1.000.000

BODILY INJURY (Par paraon)

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY
HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS
NONOWNED
MTFOSONLY

S2509940 10/01/2024 10/01/2025 BODILY INJURY (Par acddant)
PROj>^RTY 0AMA6^
(Par acddanb

UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS UAB

OED

OCCUR

CLAIMSJAADE

EACH OCCURRENCE 5,000,000

S2509940 10/01/2024 10/01/2025 AGGREGATE 5,000,000

RETENTION S

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' UABIUTY
ANY PROPRlETOR/nLRTHER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICERMEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory In NH)
ir yaa. datcrfba undar
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS balovn

Y/N

0

PER
STATUTE

OTH
ER

NIA R01707HCHS2025-01 (3a.) NH 01/01/2025 01/01/2026 EL EACH ACCIDENT 1.000,000

EL DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE
1,000.000

EL DISEASE • POUCY UMIT
1,000,000

Dlractors & Officers Liability
J06511302 04/01/2024 04/01/2025

Umit

Deductible

1,000.000

5,000

DEBCRIPTWN OF OPERATIONS I LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Ramartca Schadula, may ba attaetiad If mora apaca is raqulrad)
[Job #: Job Type; DoTl ^
State of NH Dept of TransportaOon is Included as an Additional Insured vrith respect to General Liability and Auto Liability as per written conlrect with the
above nam^ insured. In accordance with NH law, carrier will give 60 days advance notice of cancellaflon or non-renewal, except for non-payment which Is
10 days.

Stats of New Hampshire Dept of Transportadon
1  7 Hazen Drive

PO Box 483

Concord NH 03302
1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POUCIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF. NOTICE WILL BE DEUVEREO IN
ACCORDANCE WTTH THE POUCY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE ' '

ACORD 25 (2016/03) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



Certifications and Assurances Fiscal Year 2024

FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR 2024 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES FOR FTA

ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

(Signature pages alternate to providing Certifications and Assurances in TrAMS.)

Name of Applicant: Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties^ Inc.

The Applicant certifies to the applicable provisions of all categories: {check here) X

The Applicant certifies to the applicable provisions of the categories it has selected:

Category Certification

01 Certifications and Assurances Required of Every Applicant

02 Public Transportation Agency Safety Plans

03 Tax Liability and Felony Convictions

04 Lobbying

05 Private Sector Protections

06 Transit Asset Management Plan

07 Rolling Stock Buy America Reviews and Bus Testing

08 Urbanized Area Formula Grants Program

09 Formula Grants for Rural Areas

10 Fixed Guideway Capital Investment Grants and the Expedited
Project Delivery for Capital Investment Grants Pilot Program

11 Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities and Low or No Emission
Vehicle Deployment Grant Programs



Certifications and Assurances Fiscal Year 2024

12 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities
Programs

13 State of Good Repair Grants

14 Infrastructure Finance Programs

15 Alcohol and Controlled Substances Testing

16 Rail Safety Training and Oversight

17 Demand Responsive Service

18 Interest and Financing Costs

19 Cybersecurity Certification for Rail Rolling Stock and
Operations

20 Tribal Transit Programs

21 Emergency Relief Program

CERTmCATtONS AND ASSURANCES S1GNATUE»: PAGE

AFFIRMATION OF APPLICANT

Name of the Applicant: Communitv Action.Progfam BelkhaprMerrimack Counties, Inc.

BY SIGNING BELOW, on behalf of the Applicant, I declare that it has duly authorized me to make these
Certifications and Assurances and bind its compliance. Thus, it agrees to comply with all federal laws, regulations,
and requirements, follow applicable federal guidance, and comply with tlic Certifications and Assurances as
indicated on the foregoing page applicable to each application its Authorized Representative makes to the Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) in the federal fiscal year, irrespective of whether the individual that acted on his or
her Applicant's behalf continues to represent it.

The Certifications and Assurances the Applicant selects apply to each Award for which it now seeks, or may
later seek federal assistance to be awarded by FTA during the federal fiscal year.

The Applicant affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of the Certifications and Assurances it has selected in the
statements submitted with this document and any other submission made to FTA. and acknowledges that the
Program Fraud CivU Remedies Act of 1986, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 etseq., and implementing U.S. DOT regulations,
"Program Fraud Civil Remedies," 49 CFR part 31, apply to any certification, assurance or submission nude to
FTA. The criminal provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 apply to any certification, assurance, or submission made in
connection with a federal public transportation program authorized by 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or any other statute



Certifications and Assurances Fiscal Year 2024

In signing this document, I declare under penalties of perjury that the foregoing Certifications and Assurances, and
any otfier statements made by me on behSlf of the.Applicant are true and accurate.

A >4

Njnme Tcanne Agri, Chief Executive Omcer

•Signature .34>aoz^Date:

Authorized Representative of Applicant



FFY 2024 MASTER AGREEMENT

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Federal Fiscal Year 2024 Master Agreement
requires recipients and subrecipients to comply with the requirements contained in the
agreement in order to receive Federal funds. The language contained in the Master
Agreement must be incorporated into the administration of the agreement my agency has
with the New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT).

I acknowledge receipt of the FFY 2024 Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Master
Agreement and tinderstand this agreement is referred to in my agency's agreement with
NHDOT by reference. The Master Agreement remains in force for the term of the
agreement.

Corhmunitv Action Program Belkhap Meiruhack Counties //j /
Name of Agency Date

Michael Taborv. COO

Name of Authorized Official Signature



.Ottp^'rimiioJ aXTraiupim^Soii

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement Revised 04/8/2025

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement

Name of Awarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration (FTA)

Name of Recipient Agency: New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT)

Name ofSubrecipient Agency: Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties,
Inc.

Community Action Proeram Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.. shall comply with all
applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements as outlined in the most recent Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) Master Agreement and Federal Certifications and Assurances.
This award includes information required by 2 CFR Part 200 as follows:

FTA award project description: (As required to be responsive to the Federal Funding Accountability and
Transparency Act (FFATA)

Amount: $1,013,600

Assistance Listing Number (ALN) (f/k/a CFDA): 20.513

FTA Award Name: FTA SECTION 5310 (COMBINED) RCC PROGRAM APPLICATIONS

Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN): NH-2023-012-01

Federal Award Date: 8/16/24

Contact information for sub-awarding official:

Name: Frederick J. Butler Title: Public Transportation Administrator
Email: FrederickJ.Butler@dot.nh.gov Phone: 603-271-2565
Is this award for research and development? No
NHDOT's cost rate for the federal award: N/A

Subrecipient Information:

Subrecipient Name: Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

Subrecipient SAM.GOV Unique Entity ID (UEI): F44JKSNJDJM6

Name of authorizing subrecipient official: Jeanne Agri

Title of authorizing subrecipient official: Executive Director

Federal Clauses: N/A

Master A^eement/Certifications and Assurances: Yes
Subrecipient Federal indirect cost rate: N/A
(An approved federally recognized indirect cost rate negotiated between the subrecipient and the Federal
Government or, if no such rate exists, either a rate negotiated between the pass-through entity and the subrecipient
(in compliance with this part), or a De Minimis indirect cost rate as defined in 2 CFR 200.332(b)(4)(i)(A)(B) and
(ii). httDs://www.ectr.QOv/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chaDter-Il/Dart-200



Ditptulmitat afTrn'iupoTlaiiMi

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement Revised 04/8/2025

Subaward Period of performance:

Start Date: 7/1/25 End Date: 6/30/27 )

Total amount of FTA sub-award obligated bv this action (a^reement/amendmenty.

For FFY: 2025 Section: 5310 RCC Amount: $1,013,600

Total amount of FTA sub-award committed to the subrecioient forieinal aereement A amendments):

For FFY: 2025 Section: 5310 RCC Amount: $1,013,600

Pass-through requirements;

The Subrecipient, Community Action Proeram Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc, agrees to
meet all requirement imposed by the pass-through entity (NHDOT) on the subrecipient so that
the Federal award is used in accordance with Federal statues, regulations and the terms and
conditions of the Federal award.

The Subrecipient, Community Action Proeram Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. agrees to
any additional requirements that the pass-through entity (NHDOT) imposes on the subrecipient
in order for the pass-through entity (NHDOT) in order for the pass-through entity (NHDOT) to
meet its own responsibility to the Federal awarding agency (FTA) including identification of any
required financial and performance reports.

The Subrecipient, Community Action Prosram Belknap-Merrimack Counties^ Inc. agrees to ]
permit the pass-through entity (NHDOT) and auditors to have access to the subrecipients records
and financial statements as necessary for the pass-through entity to meet the requirements of this
part; and appropriate terms and conditions conceming closeout of the subaward.

Date: 4-25-2025

Name of authorizing subrecipient official: Jeanne Agri

Title of authorizing subrecipient official: Execi^e Director

Signature of authorizing subrecipient official:



cfTritiu'poflailiUi

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement Revised 04/8/2025

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement

Name of Awarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration (FTA)

Name of Recipient Agency: New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT)

Name ofSubrecipient Agency: Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties,
Inc.

Community Action Proeram Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.. shall comply with all
applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements as outlined in the most recent Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) Master Agreement and Federal Certifications and Assurances.
This award includes information required by 2 CFR Part 200 as follows:

FTA award project description: (As required to be responsive to the Federal Funding Accountability and
Transparency Act (FFA TA)

Amount: $1,960,000

Assistance Listing Number (ALN) ff/k/a CFDA): 20.509

FTA Award Name: FTA SECTION 5311 (RURAL) PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION PROJECT

SOLICITATION

Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN): NH-2024-007

Federal Award Date: 07/22/2024

Contact information for sub-awarding official:

Name: Frederick J. Butler Title: Public Transportation Administrator
Email: FrederickJ.Butler@dot.nh.gov Phone: 603-271-2565
Is this award for research and development? No
NHDOT's cost rate for the federal award: N/A

Subrecinient/Contractor Information:

Subrecipient Name: Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

Subrecipient SAM.GOV Unique Entity ID (UEI): F44JKSNJDJM6

Name of authorizing subrecipient official: Jeanne Agri

Title of authorizing subrecipient official: Executive Director

Federal Clauses: N/A

Master Agreement/Certifications and Assurances: Yes
Subrecipient/Contractor Federal indirect cost rate: De Minimis
(An approved federally recognized indirect cost rate negotiated between the subrecipient and the Federal
Government or. ifno such rate exists, either a rate negotiated between the pass-through entity and the subrecipient
(in compliance with this part), or a De Minimis indirect cost rate as defined in 2 CFR 200.332(b)(4)(i)(A)(B) and
(ii). httDs://www.ecf'r.^ov/current/title-2/subtitle-A/chaDter-lI/part-200



Difpartaii'iU a/Trmu/torUtiUui

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement Revised 04/8/2025

Subaward Period of performance:

Start Date: 7/1/25 End Date: 6/30/27

Total amount of FTA sub-award obligated bv this action {agreement/amendment):

For FFY: 2025 Section; 5311 Amount: $1,960,000

Total amount of FTA sub-award committed to the subrecioient (orieinttl aereement A amendments):

For FFY: 2025 Section: 5311 Amount: $1,960,000

Pass-through requirements:

The Subrecipient, Community Action Pro2ram Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc, agrees to
meet all requirement imposed by the pass-through entity (NHDOT) on the subrecipient so that
the Federal award is used in accordance with Federal statues, regulations and the terms and
conditions of the Federal award.

The Subrecipient, Community Action Pro2ram Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. agrees to
any additional requirements that the pass-through entity (NHDOT) imposes on the subrecipient
in order for the pass-through entity (NHDOT) in order for the pass-through entity (NHDOT) to
meet its own responsibility to the Federal awarding agency (FTA) including identification of any
required financial and performance reports.

The Subrecipient, Community Action Pro2ram Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. agrees to
permit the pass-through entity (NHDOT) and auditors to have access to the subrecipients records
and financial statements as necessary for the pass-through entity to meet the requirements of this
part; and appropriate terms and conditions concerning closeout of the subaward.

Date: 4-25-2025

Name of authorizing subrecipient official: Jeanne Agri

Title of authorizing subrecipient official: Executive Director

Signature of authorizing subrecipient official:

Agn

/e Director I



f O C Dcpanmcm of ih»s Trea*ury
SiWPt) Intarnal Revenue Service

P.O. Bqx 2508

'  Cincinnati OH ^5201

In reply refer to; 02^8459780
Oct. 02> 2008 LTR 4168C EO
02-0270376 000000 00 000

00019992

BODC: TE

33246

COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP &

MERRIMACK COUNTIES INC

PO BOX 1016

CONCORD NH 03302-1016167

Employer Identification Number: 02-0270376
Person to Contact: MR. PILLIS

Toll Free Telephone Number: 1-877-829-5500

Dear TAXPAYER:

This is in response to your request of Sep
taX-exempt status.

23y 2008> regarding your

Our records Indicate that a determination letter was issued in
JULY 1968/ that recognized you as exempt from Federal income tax»
and discloses that you are currently exernpt under section 501(c)(3)
of the Internal Revenue Code.

Our records also indicate you are not a private foundation within the
meanihg of section 509(a) of the Code because you are described in
sectlon(s) 5a9{a)(l) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) .

Donors may deduct contributions to you as provided in section 170 of
the Code. Bequests, legacies? deviises, transfers, or gifts to you or
for your use are deductible for Federal estate and gift tax purposes
if they meet the apblicable' provisions of sections 2055, 2106, and
2522 of the Code.

If you have any questions, please call us at the telephone number
shown in the heading of this letter.

Sincerely yours,

Michele M. Sullivan, Oper. Mgr.

Accounts Management Operations I

Page 22



Financial Statements

COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM

BELKNAP - MERRIMAGK COUNTIES. INC.

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2023 AND 2022
AND

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT AND
REPORTS ON GOMPLIANOE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS* REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Community Action Program of Beiknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompahying consolidated financial statements of "Community A.Qtiqn Pfpgram of
Belknap-Mertimack Gpuhiies, Inc. (a nonprofit organization)i which cornprise ^
statements of financial position ais of February 28. 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated
statements of activities, fuhctipn.alexpenses, and,cash flows for the years then erided.,ah.d the related
riotes to^ the consolidated finanelaf statements.

In pur opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly; In all material res'peCFs; the financial
position of Community Action ProgTafn of Belknap-Merrirriack Cpuhties,. InC; as of February 28. 2023
and 2022, and the changes: in its net assets, and its-cash> flows for the yearsnhen e.hded in accofdahce
with ■accbuhting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We: conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted ih the Unitdd^Stptes
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Qdvprnrnent Auditing
Standards, issued"by the Comptroller Qeneraf of the United States- Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Ab^it of t^'e'f^'P^pcial
Staternerits sectiori bf"ourrep6rt. We^afe fequir"^^^ to bd independerit of Gpmmuriity Action PrPgram of
Belkhap-Merrimack Counties, -IriC': and to meet bur other ethical' fespbhsibilities, ih accordance' with the
relevant ethical requirements felatlhg tb pur audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have .obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Finahciai: Sfafemenfs

Management is resporisible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in. the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal cpntfol felevant ip the.'preparafion and
fair presentation of consplidated fi nancial statements that are free from material nlisstatemeht, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in" the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Community Action Program
of Belknap-Meitimack Cpurities, Inc.'s ability to cbnfinue as a going concern within one year after the
date that the consolidated financial staternerits are available to be issued. }



Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financiaf Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidatedi financial staterhents
as a whole are free from materiaf misstaterneht. whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes bur opinion. Reasdhable assuranpe; js a high leyel of assurance- but-is not, absolute
assurance and therefore is riot a guarantee' that ah audit conducted* in accordance' vyith generally
accepted auditihg standards-and ̂ 'Gpvemmenf; Auditihg. .Sfandhrds wjlj. always; detect a- rriaterlal
niisstatement when > it e>cists.. The nSk- of not detecting a itiaterial rhisstatement; i^esulting, from fraud is
higher than for pa© resulting frpmi .as ffaud may inyolve edllusipn..fprgery> fntehtipnai omissions
miarepfesentafipns, or the override of internal cohtrbl;. Mlsstatemeri|& are Gohsidered^rnatehaf^ there is
a,substantial jlikelihppd "■ in the^.aggregatevthey would influence the; judgment made
by-a reasonable user basep ph the cdhsblidated financial staterhents.

In performing an audit-m aeedfdan'ce with, generally accepted auditing standards end Govefhment
Auditing Standards, we::

•  Exercise professiPhal judgmentand maintairi'professional skepticism throughout the audit.

•  Identify and assess the risks of matefial rrijsstate|Tipnt of the consolidated financiaj statements,
whether due to fraud or error; and design end pefform audit proGeddreh'responp^ tpThose
risks. Such procedures Ihciude examining, on a test basis,, evidence regarding' th© amounts and
disclpsUres in. the consplidatpd" firiahcial: statdmahts,

•  Obtain an underetandihg of internal controf relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are^ appfopripte in the circumstances, but not for thp' purpose pf expressing: an
opinion, on the effectiveness of Community' Action Program of Belkhap^MemmacK Gouhties,
Inc.'s ihtemal ppntfpi. Accpfdingly, no such opinion is expressed.

•  Evajuate the apprbpriafeness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accpuntlhg estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated; financial stafemehts.

•  Conclude whether-;Jn our judgment, there are conditions or.evehts, considered in the aggregate,
that raise .substantial doubt about Cpmmunify Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack C.ouhties,
Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the.audit,.significant audit findings, and certain intemal control-related
matters that we identified, during the audit.

Supplementary information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial' statements
as a whole. The accortipanyihg schedule of-expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S.
Code of Fedefai F^egufatiohs Part 206,, Uniform Adn^Jnlstraifve Reguirements, Cost P'rincipfes, .and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required, part of the consolidated fihanei'al statements. Such Infpfmatlbh is the fespppslbility of
management and was derived frorri and relates directly to the underlying accounting and pthpf records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The infprmation has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements arid certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to. the underlying accounting
and pther records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the cohsplldated financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
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generally accepted in the United States of America, In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is fairly stated, jn all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial
statements as 'a whole=

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In aecordahce' with. Gp\/ewrneht Audiiihg Standards, we have also issued puf report dated September
14, 2623, oh. our cohsideratioh of Gomrhunity Action Program of Belkhap-Merfima'ck Counties,. Inc\'s
Internafcd'htfol' oS/'ef- financial reporting and on our tests of its eorhpliance wjth ceVtain. provisions, of laws,
regulations, cOhVadts/ahdvgreht/a^^ arid other rriatiers. The p.uippse of that repbrt is solely to
d^cribe'the' scope of our testing of iriterhal'dontrol over ̂ nancialrreportihg and: compliance and the
results of that'testing,- arid not to,provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Communify. Action Program
of ielkhap-Memmack Counties, lnc.'$. ihterna! bpntrpi over finahciaj reporting or pri corhpllance'. That
repoh:is,ari integral-part'Of an. audit performed in accordance with Go'^erhment Auditing Btandards/in
considering Community Action Program of Belknap-Merflmack! Counties. Inc.'s internal control' over
financial reporting and compliance;

Dover, New Harripshire
September 14', 2023

)



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FiNANCIAL POSITION
FEBRUARY 28. 20^3 AND 2022

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash

Accounts receivable

InvehtprV
Prepaid expenses
Investments

Total current assets

PROPERTY

Land, buildings and Improverhehts
Equlprneht, furniture and vehicles
ConstrMctidn tn process

Total property

Less accumulated depreciation

Property', net

OTHER ASSETS

Right.bf use.assel
Cash escrw and reserve funds

Tenant securi^.deposits
Due fforn related party

Total other assets

TPJAL ASSETS

UABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LlA^IUTfes
Cu.irent pprtjpn of notes payable-
Current portion of right of use liability
Line ofcredit

Accourite payable
AcchJed expenses
Refundatiie advances

Total current liabilities

LONG TERM'LIABILITlES
Notes payable, less current portion shbwri above
Right of use llat^iHty; less current portion shown.above
Tenant security deposits

Total liabilities

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions

Total net assets

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

2023

5  1,711.575
6.027.912

81.569-
100,225
.128.956:

1050.237

7.627.214

4.761497
•132.920

T2.522-.631

6.357.475

1,387:327
77,328:

8.247
.  ■6l.i348

■i.'534.250

237.926
46T.162.

4,550,252
1.177,337
1.817.340

8.244.017

668.146
926.165

8.221

9.846,549

5.530,452
564.961

8,095.413

1.384.485
5,24.^.621

271(926-
■ 33,928
13'l793

7.073.753

7.368,799
6;3'35;485

.  "'.4.1L401

|3;745.685

.7,52l363

6.117.322

89.468
9,120

65.488:

164.076

$ 15.941.962. $ .13.455.151

$  314,265

154.350
3.635.655
1.586,207
1.537.802

6(728.279

^0,469

9.120

7,637.888

5,179.734
637.529

5.817.263

5 15.941.962 $'13,455,151

See Notes to Cohsolidated Ffriancial Statertients
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP > MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Grarit awards S 56,930.603 $ ■ S 56.930,603
ReritarinGorhe 140,962 - 1^0,962
Other funds 2.804.065 3.122.293 5.926.358
In-kind. 401.74? - 401,748
United Way 3.659 - .3.659
Interest income 895 - .895
Realijied' loss on sale of equipment

Total.revenues and other support

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

RESTRICTIONS

60.245.394 3,122.293 63,367,687

3,194.861 (3,194.861)

Total

EXPENSES

Program
Management

Total expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR

63,440,255 (72.568J ..63,367.687

61,101,300
i:988.237

- 61,101,300
_....1.9,88,23'7

63,089,537 63,089,537

350,718

.5,179,734

$  .5,530,452

(72.568)

637,529

S _ 564.961

278.150

.. 5.817.263

6,095,413

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLlDATEb STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FORJHE Year ENDEb FEBRUARY 28. 2022

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPbRT
Gr^nt ayvards
•Rental Ineoftie

Other fundis
Paycheck Protection Program Loan Forgiveness
In-klhd*

United Way
• Interest Income
. Realized gain on. sale of equipment.

Total revenues and other support

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

RESTRICTIONS

Without.Donor

Restrictions

36,482.087

135,298

1526.432
1.6il427
592,-136

2,123

74

With Donor

Restrictions

2.650;984

7.200-

41.360.777

3.062.287

2,650.984

total

36.48l087
135\298-

5.i77';41S
1^6iM27
59ll36

lV2i3-
74

.  72200-

■44,011,761

fl'dtal 44.423,064 (411,303) 440^7.761

PCPENSES
Program.
Management

40,064.851
-.1,917,438

- 46,684.851
1'.9?I7.438

■total expenses .4l00l289 42,602,289

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 2,420,775 (411.303) '2iP09,472

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2.758.959 1,048.832 3;807.791

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR $, 5.179,734 $  637.529 :%  .5,817,263

See Notes to Consolidated-Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLlbAtEb STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

Salaries and wages

Payfgll'taxes and benefits
Travel'

Occupancy
Prdgrarri services
Other costs':

Accounting fees
Legal fees
Supplies
Postage and shipping
Equlprnent rental and niaintenance
Printing, arid publications
Conferences, conventions and rheetings
Interest

Insurance

Merhbership fees
U.tility and rnaintehahce
CorTipOter services
'Other

Depreciation
In-kindi

•Total functional expenses

Prooram Manaaement Total

S  8.902.376 $  841i141 $ '9,743,517
2.422,222 155.843 2.578,065

233,521 16.301 24'9.822
1'.36(),924' 133,i39 .n49|i663

44,607,205 •- 44,667,2'05

.66,194 1.959, '68,153

24.793 268 .25,061

2^9,188 38.955 328,143
45,766 45,766

1,540 - T.54d
41,775 15:970 57.745-

13,885 - 43,885

3,991 39.049 43:040'
131.4W 30,788 162.242

13,298 16,283 23,581

139,247 139,247

71,214 - 71.214

2,298,910 139,405 2;438i3i.5
3'2.049 565,136- 597,185

401':748 - 401,748

$  61.101,300: S  1,988i237 $■ •63;o89'.537

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGf^AM BELkNAP ■ MERRIMACK CQUNtlES; INC.

CONSOLibATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL ̂ PENSES
FOR THE year ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2022

Proa rani Mahademeht total

Salaries ar)d wages $  7,961,177 $■ 1,180,579- $ .9,141,756
Payroll taxes and benefits • 2.2^6.69()' 226:3f5 . 2,625,065
T ravel- 19,4,343 ' 9,6^8; ' 2t)3;991
Occupancy T267.982, 114,418' -1;382,400
Pr6gram';s'ervices 25.639.65;9: T 25,639.659
Other costs:

Accduntiijg fees - 74,655 '74,855
Legaf fees 15,.361 T52 T5;513
4uppiie's f59.84'4 44,534 204,378
postage and shipping '49;860 '8.T5?! 58;591
Equiprfient rental; and maihtenartce •1,141. - '•1,141
PVInti,hg and publications 28.133" 27:696' .55,829
Conferences, conventions and meetings 13,964 -• 1'3,964
Interest 29'.T87 26i84t 56,028
Insurance 124.730 43'.856; 168,586
Membership fees 16,276 i6;2"76
Utility.ihd maintenance • sbjol '104-141 :i9i.844
Computer services 11.T,99d - 111 ,'990
Other 927';525. 53.61,1! 961.136

Oepreciatipn 566,151 •.566,151
)ln-kirid 592,136 . 592J 36

Total: functionai expenses S  .40,084.851 $  1,917:438 S- 42,002,289

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE.YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022

CASH Flows FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets
Adjustments,tp reconcjie change in net assets to

net cash from operating activities:
Depreciatlpn
Paycheck Protection program loan forgiveness
interest On deferred financing costs
%'earized loss on disposal of equipment
Decrease (Increase) in current assets:
'Accounts receivable

' Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Due from rerated party
tenant secunty deposits

Increase (decrease) In current liabilities:
Accounts payabfe^
•Accrued experises
Refundable Advances
Tena'nt secunly deposits

NET CASh PRpVibED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

GASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
^Pr'oce'eds from sale of prgperty
AddUibrts to property
Investments.

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOyyS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net repayments On line' of credit
Repayiment of long terrn "debt

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVltlES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE. BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE, END OF YEAR

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH:

Cash

Cash escrow and reserve funds

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the year for interest

s 273.150 S 2.009.472

597.185 566,151
- (1.615.427)

483 483.

36,538 (7,200).

(783,291) .(1,48.1.812)
190,357 (216.031)

(66,297) 39,781
4.140 (65,488)
873 (2.239)

.914,597 ■2,'109,823
••9i;i36 29i2'58
279^538 566;86.1

(899) 2,239

1,54l504'> .  2,137,869

7v206
(773.876) (1,141,101)

9,837 (10,797)

(764.039) (1,144,698)

(154,350) (225,678)
(309:165) (258,743)

(463.515) (484.421)

314,950 508.750

1,473.953 965,203

s 1,788.903 S 1,473,953

$ 1,711,575 S. 1,384.485
77,328 89,468

1.788,903 $ 1.473.953

43,040 56.028

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY AGtlQN PROGRAM BELKNAP MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSQUDATEO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORTHE YEARS ENDED FEIBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

1.. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature 6f Organization
Commuhity Actibri Ptpgram. Belknap - Merrimack Co.unties, Inc. (the Organization) is a
New Hampshlfe nonprofit organization that serves nutritional, health, living and support
needs of the low- income and elderly clients, in. thp tvi/o county .service areas,.- as well as
state wide: These services are proyiddd with the finahcjah.sUpport 6f various federal,
state, county and local prganizatiohs.

Prlnciples.of Consolidation

The. cPnsplidated' financial, statements include the accounts of Gommuriity Action
Program Belknap-Merrimack^Counties,r Inc., and, the- following entities as Community
ActiPn Program-Belkhap-Merrlrnaek Counties, Inc; has both an eGonomic interest and
coritrpi of the entities through a majority voting interest in their governing boafd. All
significant, intercompany items and transactions have been eliminated from, basic
Gphsblidated financial statements-

■  Sandy Ledge Limited Partnership
GAP BMC development Gofpofation

Basfs.ofAi^ouhtihq
The: acep?hpahyihg, consolidated, finandial statehi.ents have: been prepared; oh the

. acerua! basis of accounting nn -'acco .with the .accounting pnncipjes. geriefally

.apOe^ted ihThe United Ctates.of America;

Basis of Rresentation

ThO -eohsPlidated^^^fi^^^ Of ;thO; .Organization. Oaye been prepared in
aeeprdahce with generally accepted;,accountlhg prjheipte^ which require the
Organization to report informatloh fegafdlng Its fihanClal position and activities
aCcording to the following net assef.classificatiOns;.

Net assets without. donor, resiiiciiohi InPiude net assets that are not

subject- td any dGn'ofrimpp'sed, restrlctjO and may be expended for any
purpose in perfonming th.e.prirhary objective^^ of the 0fganizatlpn. these
net assets may be used at the discretlpn of the Organization's
management and board of difectors.

Net assets witk /donor restnciions include net assets subject to
stI'pulatiohsMmposed'by donom arid''grantGrs. Some donor restrictions are
temporary in nature; those restrictions w/ij!. be met by actions of the
Organization of by passage of time. Other dpnpr restrictions are ip.efpetual
in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be malritained in
perpetuity.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOtES to CONSOLlDAtED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED REBRUARV 28. 2023 AND 2022

Donor restricted contributipn.s are reported as increases, in net assets with, donor
restrictions. When restrictions expire, net assets,are reclassified from; net assets with
donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions in the consolidated staternents
of activities.

the Organization had net assets with donor restrictions of $564,961 and $637,529 at
February 28, 2023 and 2022, respectively. See Note 14,

Income taxes

Community Action Prograrfi of Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Iric. is organized, as a
nonprofit corporation and is exernpt from federal incorne taxes under Ihternal ,Revenue
Code Section 501 (e)(3j. the Ihternal Revehue Service has determined, them to be other
than a private fouridatldri,

the Organization files information returns In the United States and the State of New
Hampshire, the Organization js subject to exarninations by tax authorities for three
years.

CAP BMC Development Corporation (the Gofporatloh) is taxed as a "C" Corporation
under the Internal Revenue Code, the Corporation accounts for deferred income taxes
under the asset and liablli^ method jn accordance with Accounting; Standards
Codification No. 740 (ASC 740). for fhcdme Taxes", the objedtiVe'bf this
method is to establish-defefred tax asie^^^^ liabilities for tempbfary: differehces
between, the finaricial reporting basis ahd;the tax basis pf the Corhpahy's assets ahd
liabilities at the enacted tax rate expeeted to be in effect when such amounts are
realized or settled. ASC 740 also requires deferred tax assets and liabilities tp^be shown
separately.. There are hp; deferred tax asSet$' or Ijabilities. Jbe Go'rppratioh ̂ no
federal net ppefatlhg loss cartyfoiwafds, available at February 28, 2023 and 2022.:

Sandy Ledge Limited Partnership (the Partnership) is taxed as a partnership: Federal
Income taxes are not. payable, or provided by the paftnershipv Earnings and Josses are
included in the partners' federal iricpme-tax fetufhs b^^^ on their share pf partnership
earnings. Partnerships are required to file incprtie. tax returns with the State of New
Hampshire and pay an ihcome taxet the state's statutory rate.

Accounting Standard Codification No. 740 (ASC 740). Accounting for Jhcqme Taxes,
established the mlhlmiirn threshold for recognlzirig, and a systerh for rneasqring, the
benefits of tax return positions in consolidated fihahcial stafemehts. The Grgahization
has analyzed its tax position taken 6h its income tax returns for the past three years,
and has cpncluded that no additiohpl proyisioh fprihcpme taxes is necessary in the
Organization's ebrisoiidated financial statements.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Property

Property and equipment is recorded atcdst or, if donated; at the apprpximate fiir valge
at the date of the dohatioh.. Assets purchased, with, a useful life in excess of one year
and'exceedirig; $5,066 are^ capitalized uriless a ipWe'r threshold is requifed by-certain
funding.sourC^., PepMQiatiprt.i.sx^ on. the straight-line basis oyfef the estirhated
usefur lives of the reiated assets aS follows.:

Buildings and impfpyements 40 years
Equipment,, furniture and Uehicles 3 -10 years

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements In conformity with Uriited States
generally accepted accounting principles requires, management to make, estimates and
assumptions tHat/affect'certain repprtdd amounts of assets and liabilities and^dlsclbsure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated fihaheidi, statements
and the reported announts pf revenues and expenses during the repPrtinp period.
Actual results could differ frorti those estimates. . .

Gash and feash Equlvaierits
Forpurposes'of the'cons^ statements of cash :f|ows, the Orgahiiatjph-cqnsjders
all liquid investments purchased with priglhar^m of three mphthS. or less to be
cash eq.ulyalerits.

The Orgahizatiph maihtsihs its-cash bank deposit accouhtsi .yvhich at times, may
exceed federally insured limits, the Orgenizatipn has not experienced, eny josses in
such accounts and believes It Is not exposed to any signifiPaht risk with respect to these
accounts.

Cbntrlbutions
All coritributiohs are considered to be, available for unrestricted use unless specifically
restrieted by the donpr. Amounts ,received that are restricted by the idphpr for future
periPds or for specificj purposes are reported as tempofarily restricted or permanently
restricted supportt depending on the haturejpf the festrictipn. However, •jf/e'restrictiPri is
fulfilled in the ;same peripd in which the cbntribution is received, the Organization reports
the suppprt.as unrestricted/ - . -

Contfibuted.Services
Donated services"a re recPg h ized as cpntributiphs in accprdan.ce with FASB ASC No.
958, Accounting for. Contributions Receivecf and Contributions Made, if the: services (a)
create or enhance nonrfinancial assets or (b) require specialized skills, and. would
otherwise be purchased by the Agency.

Vojunteefs prpvided'yaripus sen/ices, thrpughput the year that are not fedpgnized as
contributipns ih the cpnsoiidated financial statements since the recoghition criteria under
FASB ASC No. 958 were not met.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP ̂  MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLilDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022 .

In-Kind Donations / Noncash Transactions
Donated, faeilities," services 'aM are reflected as revenue and expense, in the
accGmpanyj'ng consolidafed -financial statements, If the cnt'eriia for r^cogrtitidn is met.
This represents the estimated fair Value for the service,' suppjles ahd' spf^ that the
Org'ahization hnight incur uhder normal operating activities. The Orgarii'zatipn received
$401,748 and $592,136 in donated facilities, Services and supplies-for the years ended
February 28. 2023 and February 28. 2022, respectively (See Note'17).

Advertising

The Orgahizatipn expenses advertising costs as they are- iheufre'd. Total advertising
costsTof the years ended February 28, 2023 and February 28, 2022 totaled $133,749
and $134,193, respectively.

Inventory

Ihyehtoiy consists of vVeatheriz^^^^^ and work in process and Is Valued at the
lower of cost or net reelizafele value, using the fifstr^ln. firstrbut method.

Revenue Recoghition
AmoUnts Vedeiv^d; from cphditlonal grants and cpntfacts for specific, purposes, pre
generally .recognized as income ,tp the extent that related expenses, and cpnditldhs e
incurred or niet Cbnditldnal .grants received prior to the, cphditidns.^being ;m
reported as refundable advances; Cdhtrlbutlpns pf^cash and other assets-are reported j
as with ddrior restrictions if they .are received with doiior imposed stipuletlorls that limit
the use of the donated assets. However, if a restriction is fulfilled ip the sam^ period in
whicKthe cphtributlpn. is recejvdd, the Organization reports the sUppbrt ai Wlthdut donor
restrietlphs,

Program Service Revenue-

Prbgrafri serviceTeVehue is recognized as revenue when the servic.es are performed.

Rerital Revenue.

Sand^ Ledge (fhe Partnership)-derives revenues from the rehtai of apartment units.
Revenues are recognized as iiicpmp, monthly, when rents-become dup; and'control
of the apartment uhits '\i transferred to the lessees^ The iridividudl' leasPs are for a
terni of one year and are capcelable by the tenants. Cohtrbj of the leased units is
transferred to the lessee In an amount that reflects the cdnsideratiph the Partnership
expects tp be^erititled to In exchange for the leased^units. the cost ihcui;fedrtd: obtain
the lease will be .expensed as Incurred.

Functional Allocation of Expenses
The costs of prdvidrng the varlousprograms and other activities have been presented in
the Consolidated Statements of Functjonal Expenses. Accordingiy, cert_ain costs have
been aliocated ambiig the program sdiVices and supporting activities benefited,
Expenses are charged to each program based on the direct expenses incurred or
estimated usage based on time spent on each program by staff, ^
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP ̂  MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR tHE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28; 202i AND 2022

Expense Method of allocation

W^es"and .benefits Time and effort
Pepreciatloh Actual assets used by program
All Ather expenses Direct assignrihent

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting
Standards Update. (ASU) 2016^02. Leases (Top/c, 842); to increase tran.sparenAy and
compAitablliti' amoh'^/pY^ahizations: by- recoghizihA lease as'SetS andMeaVe' liabJiities on
the statement of financial position and disclosing key ihfdrrfiatioh about leasing
;arfarigements for lessees and lessors. The standard applies a-right of use model that
requires, a|l leases with a lease term of more than. f2 mdnths. to reAoghize an asset
."repres.entlng its "right to use the underlying asset for the leAse tentii and liability to make
lease payments to be recorded. The Organization elected nbttd restate thecbmparative
.period! The. &rgahizatlbn also elected not to reassess .at adoption; (i) expired or existing
contracts to deterhiihe whether they are or contain a Jease. (1|) the lease Alassi'fication of
anyexistihg leases, (iii) initial direct costs for e.xisting leases. The',ad;pptjon .of ASU
'2016-02 resulted; id the re.cognltiph pf operating right Af u,se..assets .of .$1:,'!S87-,'327/ancl
operating right of use lease llabinties of $1,387,327 as of Mar6h: I'i 2022- Results for
periods'begihning prior to February 2'8, 2022 Gontinue. to be reppiled i.aaccordance with
the OrganizationJs historical aAcOuntTng treatment., the adoptjph of AS^' 2016^02, did not
have a. material, irtjpact on the Organization's results of opefatipns and' .cash flows.

In September 2020, the PASS issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU), No. ?Q20-
"07, Not-'for-ferofit Entities (topiq 958): Presentation add Disciosures
Entities for Cpntributed Nonfinanclal Assets, Intended to inipypve. transparen.cy in^ the
reporting of contributed honfihancial assets, alSo: khowh, as.gifts-in-kind,; for not-for-profit
organiiatlphs, Examples of coritributed nonfinahcial assets'include, fixed aSsets such as
jarid, buildings, and equipment; ;the use of fixed assets pr utilities; materials and
supplies, .such as food or clothing; Intangible asset.s;, and recpgdized' contributed
services: the ASU requires a not for-profit organization to present cpntflbuted
nonfinaricial assets as a. separate line item in the statement of activities,, apart from
contributions of cash pr other financial assets. It ajsp requires certain dlsclAsures for
each category of contributed nonfinancial assets recognized, the Agency adopted the
provisions of ASU 2020-07 during 2022.

2. ACCdUNtS RECEIVABLE
Accounfs receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from
balances outstanding at year end, Balances that are still outstanding after mariagement
has used reasonable Apllectibn efforts are written off through a charge to the valuation
allowance and a credit to accounts receivable. The allbwance for uncollectible accounts
was estimated to be zero at February 28, 2023 and 2022. The Organization has no
policy for charging interest on overdue accounts.
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COMMUNITY ACTiON PROGRAM BELKNAP ̂  MERRHVIACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2023 AND 2022

3. REFUNDABLE ADVANCES

Grants received in advance are recorded as tefuridable advances; and recognized as
revenue in the period in wh.ich the related services or expenditures are performed or
incurred. Funds received in advance , of grantor coriditions being rnet aggregated
$1.817,340 and $1,537.802 as of February 28, 2023 and 2022: respectively.

4. LIQUimtY AND AyAlUBILITY
The fbllby/ihg fepfes^^^ the Organization's financial assets as of February 28:

Financial assets at year end:
Gash and, ca>h equivalents, undeslgna'ted
-Accounts: feeeiyable
Investhiehts
Cash reserves

Caeh'escrpvv

Total financial, assets

Less aroduiits not ayailabie tc|:-be used within one year:
Net assets with donpr restrictions
Reserve' funds

Amounts not available within one year

FinanOiaj assets ayaila to rlieef general
.e3(penditures over the next twelve rfionths

It Is the Organization's goal to rnalntain financial assets to meet.60 days of operating
expenses which approxirriates $10,200,000 and $6,710,000, at February 28,, 2023 and
2622. fdspectively. The Organization has a line of credit with.$700,OOP arid' $445,650,
available to borrow oh at February 28, 2023 and 2022; reispectively.

S  6.'i38.695

2023 2022

$  1,711.575 $  1:384.485
6.G2T912 5.244,621

128,956 ■1:38,793
74,847: 81,143

2.481. 8.325

7.945.77li 6.857.367

564,961 637,529
74''.847 81.143

:639;808 718.672

5. RETIREMENT PLAN
Thb Orgahizatiori has a qualified contributory pension plan which covers substantially all
empldyees. The cost of the plan is charged to programs adrnjnistered by the
Organization. The expense of the plan for the year ended February 28, 2023 and 2022
totaled $209,878 and $186,976, respectively;
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACiC COUNTIES. IMG.

NOTES TO eONSOLIDATED^INANCIAL STATEMENTS
f6r THE YEARS EtaDEdJEBFluARYis. 20^3 ANd 20^2

6. OPERATING LEASES

Oii Jahuafy Organization yyas, required to adppt ASU 201.6^02,, Leases
(top/c As part of irriplertieriting A&^ the Organization evalUatecl current
cphfraets, to determine which met the driteria. of a lease, the. right of use^(RQU) assets
represent the 'Organlzatipn's right ta use. unde/lyjng assets fpr.the leaise. term,,,and the

■ lease- liabilities- represent the. Ofgahizatiph's phligptlPn tO; rpake leaAe payments arising
from these leases, the ROU assets and Ipa^e liabilities, all of: which, arise frohi
operating leases, were calculated based ph the' present value of future lease payments
over the lease terms.. The Ofganizatipn has ele^^ to discount future cash flows at. the
risk: free bprrowing fates c6mm.enSufatpfWith.tbe;.fe^^^ {3% at .March
T, 2022; epmrnpn expenses, .classified as .pceupancy costs in; the:-dp
finanPial.staterrients, dfecohsidefed'a Gprnponent undef FA5&ASG 84?.and
are recognized as cpsts are Incurred. The Organization's ;operating'"^ leases are
descfibed below.

Faciltties occupied by the Organization fPC Its conrimunity s.ervice programs are leased
Uridef varipud operating the jeasp\tefms:-rahge from mp^^
yearC. For the yearVnded FpbruarV 20^^ the annual lease expPnSe for
the leased facilities was: $586,539 and |544:i299. respectively:

The apprpxinhate future rriiriimurn lease payrnents on the above leases are as follows:

Year Ended

FebruaiV 28 Amount

2024 $ 488,157
,^025 My Mo.
2026 92i911
2627 82,006
2028 .77^560

Thereafter 477.665
1,505,229

Less imputed'Interest 117.902

total $ 1.387.327

7. ACCRUED EARNED TIME

The Organlzatioh hds accfued a;liability fpr;fUtUre annual Je^^ timp that its employees
haye earned and vested with the employees in the arhbunt of $691,684 and. $660,158 at
February 28, 2023 and ^022, respectively, the OrganizatiPn amended the pqlicy
effective March 1, 2022, the policy allows for a maximum of 50 days to be carried over
to the next fiscal year, however, upori teitninatlon only two weeks will be paid'out. The
two week liability Is $28'5,599 at February 28, 2023.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES to CdNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARiENDED FEBRUARY. 28. 2023 AND 2022

8. BANK LINE OF CREDIT

The Or§'afiizati6ri ha^ S $200,000 reyplving line" of credit agreement (the line) with a
bank that is due oh demand, the line calls for irionthly Variable interest payments based
on the Wall Street Jpufhar Prime" Rate (7.75% and -3.25% at Februaiy 28. -2023 and
2022, respectively) plus t%. but not less than 6%. per annum..The line is secured by all
the Organization's assets. There was nq balahce buts^tandlng at February 2'8, 2023.
There was a balance of $154.;3$P outstanding at Februa 23, 2022.

The Organization had; a Teyolyjngvirne.of creditragreement ̂ the lihej; Jn the amount of
$400.0.00, with a bank that is,-due, oh. ̂ calledTof'mpnthly; variable
interest payments based pn -the LIBOR rate (2.41% at February 28, 2022). The; line, was
secured by all the Qrganizatipri's aSsets. no balance putsiahdihg^ai February
28, 2022. The lihe. was closed dufirig.the year ended February 28, 2023.

The Organization entered into an. additional revpjying line of credit agreertient (the line)
in the amount pf $500.000,'vyith' a .bank thet.'Ip'due on June 2, 2023; the'line cplTs for
monthly variable ipterpst payrhehtS based pn the'Wall Street Journal Prime^Rate (7.7$%
at February 28, 202'3j. The liiie, id secured .by all the Oi^gahizatloh's assets. There was
no balance outstandihg^at Februa^'28," 2023.

9. CONCENTRATION OF RISK
For "the year, ended FebrUafy'.28, 2023, approximately $18,300,000 (29%), and
$32,000,000 (51%), of the Organization's total revenue was received from the
Depariment of Health and Human Services and the Department of Treasury,
respectively,. For the year ended February 28, 2022, $13,200,000 (30%), and
$15,300,000 (35%), of the Organization's total revenue was received from the
Department of Health arid Hurhah Services and the Departmeht of Treasury,
respectively, The hjture scale and nature of the Organization is dependent upon
continued suppprt from these departments.

10. LONG TERM DEBT

Long term debt consisted of the following as of February 28:

2023 2022

5.50% note payable to a financial institution in
monthly Installments for principal and interest of
$1,634 through July. 203.9. The note is secured by
property of the Organization. $ 210,560 $ 218,228
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l-OR THE -YEAkS il^ibED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

5.75% note payable to a financial institution in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$13,912 through.July 2623. The note is secured by
property of thd Organization for Lakes Region Family
Center.

2023

71,040

2022

219,279

3.00% note payable to the City of Concord for
leasehold iniprbyerhehts in rnonthly installnrients for
pnnGifJal and Interest bf $74 through May 2027: The
note is securediby .prdpe'rty of the Organ for the
agency admihistrative building tenbvatlons. 35,179 42,958

7.00% note.payable to, a bank jri nibnthry installments
for principal and interest of $4;842 through May 2023.
The note Is secure^ by a ffrst real estatb .mprtgage
and , assignment of rents and leases on property
located in Coricbrd' New, Hartipshire for-^ Early Head.
Start. 6i076 116.572

.1.00% Paycheck Proteetibn' Prograrri' loan payable to
a bank In- niohthly , installments^/for pflncipah arid
interest of $7,51-1 through April:, 2p25V ,pf
the pfbce:ed.s: rPpb!ye.d^ Was^ forgiven'during the, year
ended .February 28;^ ^ (See Npte ;11). 18.7,615 280,439

NboHriterest bearing note .payable by Sandy Ledge
Limited Partnership tb 'New Hampshire Hpuslhg
deferred uhtil Juhe 1, 2034" or until the project, is sold
of refinanced or surplus cash .is/availab'le. note is
cbllaterailzed by a mortgage on real estate. 341.922 343.081

total jongrtefrn debt before unarnortized deferred
financing cost 911,392 1.220,557

Unamortized deferred fihancing costs ■15.320) f5.803)

Less amounts due within one year
906.072

1237.926)
1,214,754
1314.265)

Long term portion S  668.146 $ 900.489
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK

NOTES TO.CONSOLIDATEb FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

The "scheduled, maturities of. long-term debt as of February 28, 2023 were as follows:

Amount
Year Ending
February 28

2024

2025

2026
2627
2028

Thereafter

$  237,926
106,239
27,053
18,294
1 i ,783

■ .5ld:097:

£  911.392

11. PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM

In April' 2020." the. Ofgani2a^^ loan prpceeds- in. the anfipUht-pf $i;935,300
under the Paycheck, Protectw^ ("PPP")/ The PPP,. was^estabiished of
the Gorbnavifus Aid, Relief and EGoriomic Security Act ("CARES Act").

On September 14, 2021, the Ofgahization received partial fprgiyehess'in the am of
$1,615,427. The forgiven prpceeds are ihcruded in income fbr'the year ended'February
28, 2022. The, remaining $3i4873^%s been cphverted to a Ipari,. due ;ih ■44'mpnthly
payments of principal and interest at-a fate, of 1%. The loan will mature iri Aprir2025,
The outstanding balance on the PPP loan at February 28,. 2023 is $187:i6l5. (See Note
10);

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Pfopefty and equipment consisted of the following as of February 2.8 -

Land
Building and improvertients
Equipment ahd vehicles
Cohstfuctidh in process

Less accumulated depreciation

Property and equipment, net

Depreciation expense for the years
$597,185 and $566,1.51, respectively.

2023 2022

$  279:340 ' $  279,340
7.347.874 7.089.459
4,762,497 6.335,485

132.920 41.401

12,522,631 13,745,685
6.165.156 7.528.363

$ 6.357.475 $ 6.217.322

28. 2023 and 2022 totaled
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COIVIMUNItY ACTION:PROGRAM BELKNAP^MERRIMAGK GDUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO GGNSGLlbATEb FINANCIAL Sf ATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

13. CGNTINGENCIES

The" Organization reqeiyes,grant funding from various sources.=Under the terms of these
agreerhentsvthe brganizatioh Is required to use the funds within a certain-p.enod and for
purposes specified'by the governing laws, and regulations. If expenditufes w^re found
hot: to haye bfeen made, in-compliarice, with, the laws arid'.regulatipns, :the Organization
might be required to repay the .'fuhds. No prbvisions' have been made for this
contihgehcy.because Specific amounts, if any, have not been, determined or assessed
as of February 28, 2023,

14. NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS

Net a,s$ets vyith' tdphOr restrictiohs are available for the fpllbwing specific-program
services as of February 28;.

2023 202^

' N,H^ Food Pantry Coalitipn $  663 .$ 663

Sonlpr eohfer ' 142,25.1 143.437

Elder services 7,3lf S8;4^7
Mafy ©Sle-. 3:a.i3o '25.629

R h Ri4Nri>rCpi3ry. r ppcj. undiisnQS'

.SurfiiTier Feeding 20,50a
0,UD4

•47,540

earing Pund ; ^;793- 8.792

AgehGy.-: pAP 60,913 27,307

Agency'Head Stail 2i6;6Q4- 222,258
Agency - FP/PN 69;329 87,253

CorhrhUhjty Crisis •- C50
Other Programs 458 '809.

Total net 'assets.With donor restrictions $  564.961 $. 637.529

15. RELATED PARTY-TRANSACTIONS
The Qfgihgbfioh sjeiV^s;es the mahdgerrient agent for the folipwihg" organizations:

Relateci Party

Belmoht Elderly Housing, Inc.
Epsorn Elderly HbOsing",, I he:
Alton ftp,usin0Tpf tbe Elderly,. Inc,
Pehibfoke Housing!fpf the.Elderly, Inc.
Nawbury Eldehy Housing, Ind
Kearsarge Elderly Housing, inc.
Riverside Housing Corppfatlpn
Twin. Rivers Cpmrtiuhity Cprporation
Ozanam Piacei.ihc.
TRCC Housing Limited Partnership

Function

HLlp Property
HUD Property
HUD Property
HOP Prpperty
HUD Property
HUD property
HUb: Pfpperty

Prpperty Deyeloprnent,
Transitional Support Services
Low Income Housing Tax

Credit Property
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP -.MERRIMACK GQUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE VEA^S ̂ NDED FEBRUA^V 28. 2023 AND 2022

The services ̂ performed by the Organization included, marketing, accounting, tenant
selection (for the HUD properties), HUD conipliance (for the HUD properties), and
maintenance of property.

' The amount dueTrbrn the related parties-for pperating .activities (collectively) at February
28, ̂ 0^3 and 2022 was $^68;2'93 and $324.J85, respectively, and Is included in
accounts receivables. Additional amounts due from related parties at February 28, 2023
and 2022 were $61.348 and 65,488, respectively.

16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
■Community Action Pfograni- BelkhaprMernmackCo Irlc..has.also invested mohey
relating to its Fix-it program in certain mutual funds. The, fair .Value of the mutual funds
totaled $128,956 aiid $i38,7?3'at February 28, 2023 and 2622, respectively .

ASC Topic No. 825-10, Finaheial Instruments, provides a definition of fair value yvhiph
focuses on ah exit, price rather than an entry price, establishes a framework in generally
:aGcepted aGc6uritjng,pnnc]piesfor measuring fair value which emphasizfesUhat .fairvalue is
a market-based' measurement, not an. entity-specific measurement,. an,d; requires
expanded disclosures about fair value measurements.ijh accordance with FASB ASC 820,
the OrgpniMtipn may use valuation techniques consistent with market, .incorne and cost
appro.aches ■ to measure fair value. As a basis for considering njarket participant
assumptions in ^i'r value measurements. FASB ASC 820 establishes' .a fair yalue
Hierarchy, yvhich. prioritizes the inputs used lr» rpeasurihg fair valubs, The-hierarchy gives
the highest priority to Level 1 measurements and thp Ibwept pripfi^;" to Level 3
measurerrierits. the three levels of the fair value hierarchy under FASB ASC 820 are
described as follows^

Level 1 r Inputs to the yajuation rnejhodology are quoted prices ayallable in
active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date.

Level 2 ^ Inputs to the valuation methodology are other than quoted; linarket
prices in active markets, which are either^directiy or indirectly pbservablfe .as
of the reporting date, and fair value can be deternlined through the use of
models or other valuation methodologies.

Level' 3. - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unpbservable inputs in
situatiPhs where there is little or ho market activity for the asset or liability
and the repprtihg entity makes estlnriates and assumptions related tp. the,
pricing of the asset or liability Including assumptions, regarding risk

At February 28, 2023 and 2022, the Organization's investments were classified as Level 1
and, were baied.on fair value.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE VEARiS ENDeD FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Fair Value Measurements using SiqhIiFicaht Observable Inputs (Level 1)

2023 2022

Begmnihg balance - mutual funds $ 138,793' $ 126,996
Total gains (losses) - mutual funds (9.837) 11.797

Ending balance - mutual funds $ 128.956 S: 138793

The carrying amount of cash, current assets, other assets and current liabilities,
approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instrurtients.

17- IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS/SERVICES
The 'O/gahiz^tiori recoyds the'valUe contributions according to the accounting
ppjides described in Note 1.

The fair value of gifts in kind included^ Gonfnbutions :in the financial statements and the
corresponding program expenses for the year ended'Febfuary'28, 2023, is as fdljows:

Volunteer Hours-
Head Start and Early Head Start $ 117,171
SCSEP 88700

Rental, space 146,026
Advertising 15,960
Donated goods 33.891

Total

18. RECLASSIFICATldN

Certain amounts and accounts from the prior year finaricial statements have been
reciassified to enhance the comparability with the presentation of the current year:

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Organization has, evaluated subsequent events through September 14, 2023, the
date the'consolidated finahciat statements were avaiiabie to be issued.
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SCHEDUCE OP EXPENDITURES OP FEDERAL AND NON-FEOERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR EWPEDFEBRUARV 3»: g023

FEDERAL CRANTORf'

PROGRAM ffTLE
US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AMD HUMAN SERVICES

HEAOSTART.CLUSn-R
HeadStart

rASSA-'Heati S(Mi

ARPA.HsmSbh

Low Inctm Horn* Energy.Asduanca Pregram
ARPA4.0W Inconia Home Energy Acskunn Program
Low mean* Hema EnawAedstancoPtograrrvBVYP
AKPA-Low Income Horria Ensrgy'AeaBtaince RiOTsm-BWP

LOW Incamo Wser Asskist» Program

Community Senicet eio^ Orenl
CV-Comrmnlty Saoriras BiDcA QcanI

Social Servlcae Block Ccant-Home OeTtvarad & CongreflAe Meata

temporary i^dirarce.kx Needy FamUiae-Famlly.Pbnnirtg,
Temporary Asdsia^ ̂  Needy FamUiea^aml/Planning FPAR

AGINC CLUSTER

llDe.in.'Kart S-Servor Tranctwlstton
Tillo IR.Part C-Hono OcHvor^ Mods-HDCE
TMa Id. Part C-Hcne OeVverad Meats

Tide II, Part C-Congregale
Tide III Par* &Grse> and Oc Meoln
NSIP

CHiLO.CAftS DEVElb'PUENt FUND CLUSTER
CMd Cara.&DAraiopmni B|6b( GfMil
ARPA-cmid Care & Davetbprrier*! Buck Grant'
ChU Cara Mandatory &'Maxlilrq Fims ol the CCOF

UEDICAIO CLtiSTER
UecSeal Aa^biwB Progim
Uadlcal Assistanee P^ram •VeSarara

STLTHealh Depann^ Reaconaa to PiAkc Health or Heathcara Crises
Ferhjh* nar:nlng'- Services'
UatarTMl. iritanL S Per^ Chlktioorl Home.^sitlng Program'
K&liortal FarrAyCare^er.Sup^L Tide IIL Part E-Sardc* Unh-
Spadal Programs tor Aging, Ttla iV-ServIca link
State HeaU) ihcutance'Assistance Program
Ueckaie Eivolnieril'Assistancv Pioyrarn

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Special Supol. Hutikioo Program for WtMr«n.:intants t ChiUran
Sania'Fwnats MrukiM

Chid S'AduK Cisre Fobd'Frogram

CHLD NUTRITION CLUSTER
SiHnmer'Fsod Service Program For Chldren-

ASSISTANCE LJSTINQ

NUUSEa

93.600

93,600

93.m

PASS THROUGH GRANTOR'S NAME

63.903 Stato ot Naw Harnpsniia
93.508 state of Nsw Hampsniia
93.56S StAooittowHerttoshiro
93,563' :Sl8taolNaiVHarnpshIi«

S3.ABO SlataofNawHatnptnrra

93.569 State of New Hampshire
93.F09r Slaur.'of New HampstAe

93.667 Stato ol Naw Hampshire

9315S Slato'of Nsw'HampsNte
.93.558 StatoofNewHanpshne

93.044 Siac Ncnv Hanpshiro

93.045 Stele of.New Honpehlra
93.045 Slate otttow'Hanpslwe
93.045 State of. hiew HanislAa
93.049 SrateofMeUHarti^lAe
93.053 State of ItoW'tlam^hire

95575 Sute:ofNewHanpc>Ao
n.S7S SatobfNcw Hamcelito.
93.59! Stale Of Mew Hampsrire

53.776 State of New Katnpshbe
93:776 .Oateways Commimly.Gervim

93.391 Stale'of Itow Hampsnice
93:217 Srate ofMeiv HanpsHim
93S70 'Stotaof NewHarpsriie
93.0S State of New Hantp«tiire
93:o^ State Of Haw. Ham^nlfe
33.324. stata'of Hew Hsrnpsnlre
33.071 State of New Harrpsrita

10.SS'7 State of New Henpsnire
10^570 Sou of New Hsrfptnlte
10.598 Sata of Naw HwrpsNra

10.566 State of New Harfptnira

lOENTFYlNG NUMBER

01CH20!2-03^1

DtKET0CO622

1HE000387-01,0'1
CLUSTER TOTAL

02.52-92-620010-ie8700»

02-63^2-5^10-24490(X»
C2<2-S2-520010-3^00000
02-62-62^0010-24490000
TOTAL

02-62^2-24520000

7001NHCSC3

3001NHCSC3

TOTAL

'05-9G-<B-4S1010-92.'>5

2()blNHTANF
2001NHTANF

rOtAL

17AANHT3SS

2101NHCUC6

2t0lNHCMC0

P.tOtNHCUOfl

2101NMCMC6
105B477

:CLUSTF.R TOTAL

NONE PROVIDED.

NONE PRIDED

CLUSTW TOTAL

OONWPGOOOd-GI-OO

a.HSTER.TOTAL

NH700T000031

'FPHPPA0ie063.

X10UC33999

200iKH0AFC-O2
90MP0241CQ

9CISAC)W3-02-00
2031NHMISH4>0

•HNS TOTAL

15154NH7C3W1003 & 5003
1B4'nH083Y8314
NONE PRtjVIOED

NONE PROVKiEO

FEDERAL

EXPEMCMTUBE9

4:918.443

'82,597
.347.070

5.348.110

PASSED THROUGH'-

TQSUa-RECIPfEMTS

5.383.170
3.207.214

177.356

437,212
0.20<.US2

33,004

335.693
•183.017-

508,710

472.549

249

1'.211

1,460

iS1,60S
03,419

754,KI7

143,218
68,237
157.306

1.588,952

247,101
16li32
e';.'/OB

104.569'

14.256

118 845

398:344

43 577

*45.733

33.469

47.971

20,307
4 011

724,991

07:064

143,041

148,742

See Notes to Schedule of Espenditiirea of Pederat Awards
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FEOCRAL QRANTORI

PROGRAM TITLE

FOODDlSTRIDLmpN.CLUSTER
Conmodiry S^plemenUI Food Pro;ram
Cniiirexlily SuppbvnenttI Ftxij Ptc^ram
Emsrgcncy Food Asslslanca P(ogrsfn-Ac>iiHstr«tiDn
Emergancy Food Aa^lance ProgrBfn

CORPORATIOW FOR NATtOKAL & COMUUMTT SERVICES

FOSTER CRANOPAREKTS/SEMOR COMPAT^IOR CLUSTER
Seniof Corvanton Program

us DEPARTMEMT. OF TRANSPORTATION

Frxmub Grona br Rural Arest-Concoid TranU

TRANSrr SGRVCES PROORAUS CLUSTER
Fnhanotd Phkib'liy cJ;SArinr» A lf*l:<W/DlMliilill**:CAT
Et)haic«d MobAty el Saniort t Ind. M/0lMbai«»4iljd Srata Transportalion
Enhanced MoM^ of Seriors 8 Ind.-iAlfOlsabaiea-Volunteer Otivera

us DEPARTMEIff OF HOUSWG AWDURBAM OEVELOPMEMT

EmergefKy Sobdons Grant
CV-Erneroency SoHAons Orani

Sopoorvve HouclrHi

of Care Pregrant

Ua DEPARTMEMT OF ENERGY

llJA-Vi^l>M>Exa(ioi> Ajwibnce kM Low Inconta Petiim
Wutheri:allon;Ass[aUnce for Lcm'.lncome Persons

US OePARTMEHT OF LABOR-

SenbrConMnunity Service Employmert Pfogtara

U.S. DEPARTWEHT OF-THE TREASURY

Conhevirus Stats andLocM Fbcal Rectwery Funds

ASSISTANCE USTWG

NWBER

tO>SCS

lasfis

10.5M

lOJjCS

S

»4.i>ie

PASS THROUGH CRAWTOirS NAME

Emergency.
Einrgency
Emergertcy
Emorgcnc/
EfTwgency'

Rerdal.AssislAi^.
Rerdal Asslstancs

Rental AssittsiKs
Rental'Aettortce

Roreal A^isicncc
Rental Assbtanse

Pingreiil
PrcgnBT.
Program
Program
Progtfiir.
rrogfatTi

NON-FEOERAL
NEW.HAHPSHIRE PUBLIC UTIUTIES CQtTPANY

El«ctr«sl AasUtanrra Program

20.500

205A3

20513

20.513

14.231

14.2.31

14.239

14,267

61.042

Si;042

•,17.235

tate 6> New Hampshire
Serin 61 Nmtr Hrmifrshiri!
Scale ol New Karnpsitire
Slated N«v Hamoshbe.

-State o< Now Hamoehlre-Oepannieru of Treneootciion;

Ruled New HAmpshire-OepS'tni^nt al TratiMncUlion
Stole of New HampsNre-rtopartmenl ol Tiemuortotott
Merriirtadt County

Stoto of New HampcNft
Stale rif New Hempshire

SUto of New Hampthlra

-Slate of New HwrpsKre

SIrito.'d Waw.HaiTvsN'a
Stote'd NerV Harfiishlie

:STate ol New Hampshire

IDENTIFYING NUWDER

2b4NH8uY60ie
204NKA14-viU)a5
81790000-

S1750000:

Cluster total

USOA TOTAL

16SCANHU01

CNCS TOTAL

NH-18<X046

'NH-1ft-K0a3

'NH-18.X043'
NH-65-X001

RUJSTER TOTAL

DOTTOTAL

O9.09-42.423O1O-7g2r
05-e5-42a230l0-7g27

TOTAL

C5'eS42'423010-7627-102-50073t

05^fiSr42-423010.7S27-102,500731

HOD TOTAL

.W.oto^mati wtoim mi tWHtr

rn.sx^sjrteiejMcatier^acoir'T
DOETOTAL

1044701

OOL'TOTAL.

21.027 NH Hpush^' SIFRP0149

21.023 MAriknetUC Cnidy Cold IMsalhet Fun^>
21 .on =NH HouXHig. ERAP 1 ERA0013 end ERA0435

'21.0^ ERAP3 •ERA06l2andERA0435

21.023 NHHoua'ng ^NEO.ilO
21.023 NHHcHBlr« HSS

21.023 NHHousfng Hcufcng Slafciily

US TREASURY TOTAL

TOTAL

S 452,641

250,749
489,761

5.851.018'.

7D44.399

* 6:128.857

s 322224

s 323.224

823.473

R2.429

28.781
84.9^

170.188

S 799:841

s 109439

234.464

340.403

50059

J25.93Q

i 931.488

S 35,982
2&B.&13

s 374.796

s 3.37.303

} »7.303.

s 2.872 852

22.929

15.913.288
'i2.'«si:sBe

4SD.514

14:848

79.565

s 29.141.710

s 32.014,382

4  00.744.798

$ 1.9S3.849

PASSED THROUGH

TO fiUa^TECIPIEHTS

S  4S2.041

33.526

5.%1.0I8

8.337 387

n,M7.3B7

4.337■3»7

i;7M.g70

See NotBS to the Schedule ol ExpendUurta of Federal Airrarda
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28! 2023

NOTE 1 BASI$_OF^PRESENtATIQN
The aGc0rnpahy^ sch.edule of expenditures pLfederal, awards (the Schedule)
includes the federal ew.ard' activity of iCpmitiunity Action Prpg'rarri. Belknap-
Mefrimack 66,uhfips, Inc. under.prq^ramS'^pf thfe'fede.ral^^^ the yea,r
ended 1 February 28, .2623. The InfpnTiatlph In this $ch^^ js presented in
aeqorciance wjth the requirements of title 2 U'.S: CoPfe pKAbc/era/ Regulations
Part 200, Unifohv Administratlye: Requirements, Cqst Principles, and Audit
Requirernents for Federal Awards (yoiform Guidance)), Because the- Schedule
presents phly a selected portion'of the pperatiohs. of Cpmimunity Act^^ Program
BeiknapTMerhmack Gouhties, inc;, it is hot intended to and does not bres^^^ the
financial,position; .changes in net assets,.of cash flows,pf the Organization.,

NOTE 2 SUM^RYOFBiGNlFiCANTA^COUNTI^
Expehditufes; fepprt^^^ oh the Schedule-.afe reported,.oh. thpr^a^^^ Basis pf
accounting. Such expenditures ^fe reeognized fojlpwing .the cost .principles
contained Tn the .(Joifprfn Wherein fertain types; of expe not
aljowable or afe limited as to rejnibufserTient, Negative ehiPubts, .shqw^^ the
Schedule represent .adjustments of credits mede ih the hofftial course of
business tp amounts reported as expenditures In prior Years-;

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE
CpmhiUrilty'Aftioh Program Belkhap^MefrimaGVOp InC; has elected to use
the ten percent de mihirfiis iridireCt Cost- rate allowed under the ynJforfTi
Guidance;

NOTE 4 FOOD:COMitflQDITIES AND VEHICLES

Nbhfhphetafy assistance is. reported in the Schedule at the fair value of the
corhrhodfties received and disbursed.
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jNPEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONtROL OVER FINANCIAL
ReMrTING: ANb ON COMPLIANCE AN6 6tHER MATTERS BASED ON

AN Aubit OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCdRDANCE WITH dOViRNMENTAUDt™^^^^^

Tp 't^he Board'of Dife^^
Gornmunify Acfiph Program BelknapTMorrimaGk Counties, Inc.

We have, audited, \n accdrdance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable tpfihahclal audits contained i'n.Govemmehf
Auditing Standards issued by the Goitiptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of Gommunity A^iph-Pfogfanh. Belknap'^Merrimack Cpuritie^ Inc: (a nonprofit
orgaril^atioil), whidh comprise the statement of financial ippsition as of February 28. 2023, and
the- related: statements 6f activities,; functidnal expenses, ahdjcash flows, for the year then
ended, and the feiated notes to the financial' statementsi and have issued our report thereon
dated September 14. 2023.

Report on Internal Control Over Fihancial RepdrUn^

In planning and pefformtng pur audit of the financial statement?, we considered Cofnniunity
Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Couhties,- Inc.'? internal cohtrpi over financial reppfting
(iriternal cohtroi) as a* basis fqr designing'audit procedures. that are. appropriate in the
circumstances fpr^the purpose pf expressing our opinion, ph the financial'Statements, but not
for the purpose of expressing an ppinibn ori the effectivehess of Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on "the effectiveness of Community Action Program Belkhap-Merrlmack Counties,
Inc.'s Internal.control;

A deficiency in internal cohtrpi exists when the design or ppefatlpn of a cohtrpi does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, rhisstatemerits bri a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combinatipn pf deficiencies, in internal control, suph that there is a reasonable
possibiji^ that a fhaterial misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the liniited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that mi^ht be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during
pur audit we did not identify any deficiencies in, internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified.
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Repoii on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of Obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Community Action Program
Belkhap-Mernhiack Counties, Inc.'s financial staterfients are free from material misstatement,
we pertprmed tests- of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, cohtracts,
and-grant agreefnerits, noncompliance with which could have a direct and rriaterial. effect on
the determination- of the financial stalernents. However, providing -an. opinion on compliance
with those-provisions was not an objective'of our audit,-and accordinglVi we do not express
such an opinion., the results of our :te.|ts .dlselpsetf no instances Of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to bp rep.b'rted under

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report Is solely'to describe the scope of our testing' of jnteTnal control and
cornpliahce and the results of that testing, and hot to provide ah; opinioh. on-the effectiverie|^
the Organization's iriterhai control or on Cornpliahce. this report is an integral part Of an audit
perfprrhed in accordance with Government Auditing .standards' 'iri cphsidering: .the
Organization's internal control and corhpliance. Accprdingly. thiacommunication is not suitable
for any other purpose.

Dover, New Hampshire
September 14. 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTRQL OVER COMPLIANCE

REQUIRED BY THE UnIFoRM GUIDANCE

To the Board of Directors

■Cpmrriunity Actibii Prpgrgm Bplj^hap-Merrinnack Cpunties. jnc,

Report on Compliance for Each Major Fede^^^ Program

dpihion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Cpmrhunity Actipn P.fograrn, Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s cpmpliahce
With the types of cornplianceTequlrements described: in the 0MB CQmpjiahce Supplement ii^aX
cPuld have a direct and matenaL effect on'each of Communlty^Action Program Belknap'^
Merrimack Cpunties, lnc;'s major ■federal progrartis for the year ended^ Fehryan/2$„'2023.
Community Action Program ■Beikhap-Mefrimeck: Counties lnc.'s majV federal'programs are
Ideritified in the summary of auditors' results Section of the accompanying schedule of findings
and questioned costs.

I.n our opinion. Community Action Program, Belknap-Merrimack Cpunties, inc. complied, in all
material respects, w/ith the types of compliance requirements referred to abovO that Pould have
a direct and materiareffect oh each of its major federal programs for the year ended February
28, 20^3.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted pur audit of compliance in accordance, with, auditing standards .generally
accepted ip the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptfollef General of the United
States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Pfinciples, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Avvards (Uniform Guidance). Our respdnsibitities under those standards and the Unifprm
Guidance are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
section of our report.

We are required to be independent of Gomrnunity Action. Program Belknap-Merrimack
Cpunties, Inc. and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical
requifements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program, Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Community Action
Prograrh Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above.
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ResponsibUities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for com^lianee with the requirements referred to'abpve and for the
design, inhplemehtaiibni and maihtehance of effective internal contfpl over compiiance with the
requirerhents; of laws, statutes, fbgulations, r.ules, and- provisions ofcontracts- or-graht
agreements: applicable to dprnmunity- Action Program BeJknapTMerrimack. GOuntjes, jnc.'s
federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain feasoha.bie assurance whether rriaterial nonepmpliance with
the complianee Tegulremehts fefefre.d to atibve-o^^ whethef due to fraud- or e.rror^ apd,
express ap. opinion ph Gprti'munity Action Prbgfarfii Beiknap-Merrimack .QouhtiesV |np['s
cbrripliance pased bri^puf'audit/Reasphab^ assurance is a high ievel-of-assuranc^^ but js not
absolute assurance and therefore is. hot a guarantee that an audit cbnduGted iri "accprdance
with geherajly accepted auditing Standards. ̂Gq\/eltimeht Auditihg .SfaQcfards; and -the ypifprfn
Guidance will always: detebt friatefial' nbncpmplian'be wheh it exists,; Thd riskvpf nbt'detecting
materiali honcompliance: .tesultirig frp'nh ffaud is- higher thari fpf/th'at fesu1tihg'''frpm^ as
fraud rnay involve cPliusiph, forgery; .ihtentiphal omissiphs;. niisrepresehtatiphsy or the override
of . rnternali cbntrdl; NbnGpmjsjiance w the compjiance: ̂requirern.ents. referred to above us
considered: rhatefial jf there; Is a sub.stantlal Jik^ that, indjyjdually pf- ih/the.aggm^^
wPuld: influenoe theludgmehtihia^^ a-rpasonabje user of the- fepprt ph gQmplianee.abpot
6pmmuhity Action pfbgram 'BelknaprMerrirhack Counties, Ihc.'s cdmpliahce- with the
requiremehts of each majbf federal p.rpgram as a whole.

In perforrtiirig ah aud[t; in aceprdance with general accepted auditirig standards; Government
Auditihg Standards,

' • Bcerelse. professippaf judgment a majhtairi prpfessipha.l skep.tlelsm thfPgghpuf the
audit

•  Identify and assess the risks^of material npncpmpliahce, \yhe.ther due to fraud;or error,
and design and perfbrhi eudit.bfpbedures fesponslye to-those risks-VSuch procedures
include examining, on a test basis, .evidence regarding. Corhmunity Actiph Program
Belknapi-Menrirhack Counties, Ihc.'s corhpllance "with the" corhpliance requirerhents
referred to. above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary In
the cifcumstahces.

Obtain an uhderstaridipg of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimapk Counties,
Inc.'s Interrial Gpntrbl over cbmpliahce relevant to the audit in order t6,desigh audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal
c'ohtrol over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action, PrPgram
BelKnap-Merfimack CPuhtles, jnc.'s infernal control over compliance., Accordihgly, no
such opinion is expressed.

yVe are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in internarcohtfol over compliance that we identified during the audit.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A defjcieriey in internal control over cornpliance .exists when the design or operation of a
Gbntrpl over cornpliance. does-not allow mariagertient^or employees, in the norrVial e6urs,e of
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, of detect and correct, hpricpmpliande w a
type, of compliance requlrefhefit of a'fedefai program on a timely basis., A rfiaterial; weakness in
internal control Over cprtipliance Is a deficiency, of corhbinatipn of deficiencies, In iiiterhal
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncpfnpljance with a type of Gonripliance requiremerif of a, federal- prpgfafh will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, pn a tifnely basis. A signifiGant deficiency in interrial
cphtrol over, cOmpliarice is a deficiency, or a combination of defidehcies, in internal Control
pyef compliance with,:a>type ptcorinpjiance requirement of a federal" programithat, IS less severe
than a material vyeakneSs ,iil ihteffial cpfitrpl dvef cpmpliahcp, yet important efiough to merit
attention by those chafged: with gpyefnanee;.

Our Consideration, of Internal cPhtrpl pyer ebmplianG^^ fpii the limlted' pufpose described in
the Auditors' ResppndbilitieS for the Audit of Gorhpliahce section aboye and'was.npt de^Sibhed
to idehtlfy^'all deficiehcie^ int ihteffial cph'trpl pVer cprfipllahce, thet jmibht bs .Pl^^rial
Weaik'hesses of sigriificarit: deficieh.cies, in internal' coritfql; over compliance. Siyen these
lifhitatiohs, during, ouf addlt we did any deficiencies jn" intefnal ppntfpi/over
cpmpliance; that We CPnsider.tp.be materlal^weakhesses, as defined' ,above-. ■Hov^eVen., matefia
weaknesses of sigrilfipaht defcieneie.^ in internal cpntfol bvef compliance rnay exist t
nPt beenUdeiitified. , ,

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an oplhlpri ori the effectiveriess of
internal cpntrol over Cpthpllahce. Accprdlngly, no such opihipn is expressed.

The purpose of this report on Internal contfol over compliahce Is spjely to descflbe the scppe of
otif testing: of interrial cpritrCl; oVef corfipliance arid the iresults of that testing' based .oh the
requirerhents of the Uriifprm Guidance. Ae'cQrdi'ngly, this report is not suitable for ariy^ other
purpose. ^

Doyer, New Hampshire
Septembef 14, 2023
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COMMUNITY ACtlON PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

TOR the YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 2^ 2023
i  ■

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS

1. The auditors' report expresses an uhrnpdlfied ppinion op whether the financial statements
of Cprnhiunrty Actibri Pfpgra.rn Belkfiap-MerrimgcK Counties, Inc. were prepared in
aGcprdance with generally accepted aecouhtihg principles.

2. No significant, deficiencies relating to the audit of the financial statements are reported in
the ihdependehi Ayb/fprs' Report'on Internal Coritrbl Over Financial Reporting and on
Cdrnplianc& end giher Matters Based on ad, Aud/'f of Financial Statements Performed in
Acpordahce with Government Auditing Standards. No materiarweafoesses are fepprted.

3. No ihstahces of npncompliahce material to the financial^ statements of Community Action
Program Belknap^MerVlmack Counties; |nc,, which would be required fp be reported In
accordance with Ggvemffient A^^ditihg Sfandap^s were discip.sed during the audit.

4. No sigpificant defi'ciehcies iri- internal cPhtrpI- Pver major federal awa'rd programs are
reported, in the /ndependepf A ud/Yors' Report on Compliance for Fach Major Program and
On Intem'ai Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance. No rhatPrlal
weaknesses are reported,

5. The avditqrs' report on ePrtipliance fbr the rfiajbr federal award prograrn's for Community
Action: Prpqram Belknap-Merriniack Counties, Ihq, expresses ap'unrriodified opinion oh all
major programs.

6. There were no audit findings, that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR
section 200.516(a).

7. The programs tested as major programs include;: U.S. pepartrpent of the Treasury,
Emergency Rental Assistance Prograhn. ALN 21.023, Cprpnavirus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds, ALN 21.027, U.S. Departrheht of Aqriculture, Women, Infants and
Children, ALN 10.557, U.^. Department of Health and Human Services, Head Start, ALN
93.600, Nevy Hampshire Public Utilities Corhpany, ilectrical Assistance Program. NON-
Federaj.

8. The threshold for distinguishing Type A and B progrartis was $1,822,344.

9. Community .Aefjbri Prograrn Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. was determined to not be a
loWrrtsk auditee.
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FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT

None ^

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAMS AUDIT

None
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Cynthia Yanski

SKILLS Project\program management

Advanced MS Office skills

Excellent presentation skills

Proficient report writer

Experienced grant writer

Effective communication styie

Work weli independently and with a team

Volunteer recruitment\management

Insightful and resourceful

First-rate customer service skiiis

APRIL 2019 -

PRESENT

OCTOBER 2012

-APRIL 2019

Community Action Program Belknap Merrimack Counties Inc.

Concord, NH

Mobility Manager

•  Responsible for the promotion, enhancement and facilitation of mobility systems
under the umbrella of the Mid-State ROC and CAPBMCI initiatives for seniors,
individuals with disabilities and the general public, through coordination of
services with transit providers and other stakeholders in the region.

•  Assists with unmet mobility needs and assessments, planning, fundraising, grant
writing, and resource development.

•  Identifies mobility barriers and solutions to improve services, resolves unmet
needs, and reports recommendations to the Mid-State ROC and to CAPBMCI for
transit services.

Friends Program

Concord, NH

Retired and Senior Volunteer Program Coordinator

•  Manage oversight of 150 RSVP volunteers maintaining compliance with the terms
and conditions of the grant and applicable federal regulations regarding program
including volunteer training and supervision

•  Plan and administer program activities to ensure project goals and objectives are
met

•  Design, organize and execute volunteer workshops and recognition events

•  Initiate and coordinate public relations activities to recruit volunteers and publicize
the program. Develop positive public relations and communications in the
community: provide and present informational programs to interested groups and
organizations

•  Prepare newsletters, brochure/flyers, and other media materials

•  Significantly improved efficiency In the Caregivers program by implementing a
ride scheduling software program and creating a volunteer opportunity within the
program to allow a portion of the day-to-day Caregivers Program tasks to be
completed by volunteers

•  Established a Caregivers Program Advisory Group made up of 7 dedicated
Caregiver Program volunteers to help drive the future of the program



Designed and implemented an orientation program for all new and existing RSVP
volunteers

Created recruitment and health fair presentations with an emphasis on healthy
aging through volunteerism

Updated our signature program brochures

Incorporated volunteer enrichment activities to further the benefits of volunteerism
through the Friends RSVP program.

NOV 2000 - MicroEdge LLC
MAY 2011

Concord, NH

Senior Software System Consultant

•  Implement and support a comprehensive financial, donor and grant
management database software system for charitable organization clients

•  Conduct data integrity analysis, code table setup, import data, create and set
up standard report templates including donor statements, development letters
and all financial statements using MS Word or Crystal Reports

•  Provide software support to existing clients while maintaining the highest level
of customer service

•  Design trainings and new feature presentations from start to finish - research,
prepare and deliver

•  Valued member of the Quality Assurance\Upgrades team

•  Evaluate client database setup and office procedures for potential efficiency
optimization; online and in-person at client sites throughout North America

Progress, SQL, GoToMeeting, GoToAssist, Salesforce, Webex, Power Point,
Outlook, Word, Excel, Access, Publisher, .Net, OpenAir, Google Analytics,
Windows OS, DOS, Macros, Adobe Acrobat, VBA, Crystal Reports

Client Service Administrator

•  Manage the Help Desk via a 10-line phone system, email and online support
options. Triage the support calls to determine call back priority. Enter lower
priority calls into the support call queue in-house database. Transfer higher
priority calls for direct support.

•  Maintain the support call database to perform quality control and correct
inconsistencies to maintain data integrity.

•  Technical support - system updates and upgrades, Windows help, install
patches and system upgrades and other technical related support calls and
FIMS software non-financial support.

Progress, Oracle, Power Point, Outlook, Word, Excel, Access, .Net, Windows
OS, DOS, VBA, SQL, Adobe Acrobat, Crystal Reports, Carbon Copy

Administrative Assistant

•  Perform all clerical duties for the office

•  Manage multiple-line phone system for the 15-person staff

•  Prepare all mailings and training documentation

•  Organize and maintain office paper and electronic filing system



THERESA C. PAIGE, TRANSIT DIRECTOR

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Transportation Director July 2019 - Current
Community Action Program Belknap & Merrimack Counties, Inc.
As the Transportation Director for Community Action Program Belknap &
Merrimack Counties, Inc. (CAPBMCI) I am responsible for all aspects of
operations for Concord Area Transit, (CAT), a fixed route rural public
transportation service which is funded with a variety of federal, state,
county, and municipal funding. This funding includes: FTA 5311, and 5310
RCC grant funding through NHDOT; BEAS Title III funding; Medicaid
reimbursed rides and a variety of other grant funding. All of these funding
sources have extensive operating and reporting requirements.

In addition I am responsible for the ongoing tasks of: budgeting; employee
hiring, training and retention; marketing and community outreach; vehicle
maintenance; securing advertisers for signs on the buses; creating and
updating policies and procedures; route scheduling design; determining
eligibility for the.ADA Paratransit service attached to CAT and processing
invoices for both accounts payable and accounts receivable.

I am also responsible for the operations of the Concord Senior Transit
service which is a demand response service in Concord, Penacook and
Suncook for seniors aged 60 and older and the Rural Transportation Services
(RTS) vehicles and drivers which provide demand response service to senior
aged 60 and older throughout Belmont and Merrimack counties. CAPBMCI
also runs a Volunteer Driver Program that covers all of Belknap and
Merrimack counties. I also supervise the activities of the 5310 RCC funded
Mobility Manager who provides services throughout the Mid-State RCC
region.

Transit Director Feb 2017 - July 2019
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
As the Transit Director for Sullivan County Transportation (SCT) I was
responsible for alt aspects of operations for a rural public transportation
service which is funded with a variety of federal, state, county, and
municipal funding. This funding included: FTA 5311, and 5310 RCC grant
funding through NHDOT; BEAS Title III funding; Medicaid reimbursed rides
and a variety of other grant funding. All of these funding sources have
extensive operating and reporting requirements.



In addition I was responsible for the ongoing tasks of: budgeting; employee
hiring, training and retention; marketing and community outreach; vehicle
maintenance; securing advertisers for signs on the buses; creating and
updating policies and procedures; route scheduling design; maintaining a
FTA compliant drug & alcohol testing program and processing invoices for
both accounts payable and accounts receivable. The transportation service is
based in Claremont NH, with three flex route systems that run in Claremont,
Charlestown and Newport. There is also a Demand Response "Dial-A-Ride"
service that runs in the larger Claremont area. SCT also runs a Volunteer
Driver Program that covers all of Sullivan County.

Independent Contractor July 2013 - Current

RLS & Associates, Inc.
I Provide training on a variety of transit-relating topics, including Passenger
Assistance and Refresher, Emergency Procedures, and Defensive Driving.

Associate and RTAP Liaison Nov 2013 - Feb 2017

RLS & Associates, Inc.
I was the in-state Program Liaison and lead trainer for the New Hampshire
and Massachusetts RTAP Programs. As lead trainer I instructed in a variety
of DOT required training areas including: Passenger Assistance and
Refresher; Emergency Procedures; Defensive Driving; Pre-Trip Inspections;
Drug & Alcohol Reasonable Suspicion Referral and several customer service
based topics. I scheduled all trainings and coordinated with RLS contracted
trainers to ensure that required trainings were available at regional training
sites throughout New Hampshire and Massachusetts. In addition I was
responsible for state DOT technical assistance compliance reviews for FTA
Drug and Alcohol programs in NC, WI, VA, and NH and several 5311 DOT
compliance reviews in NH.

I served as interim transportation director for Southwestern Community
Services, Inc. in 2016 when they agreed to take on the responsibility for the
only public transportation service in Sullivan County. This service had been
abruptly shut down when another social service provider in the region
ceased operations. In this transitional position I provided all of the
traditional management activities of a transit manager as well as the
additional responsibilities of repairing community relationships and
improving the service image.

Regional Transportation Coordinator Sep 2013 - Nov 2013
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
•  Responsible for assisting the Mid-State Regional Coordinating Council

with collaborative initiatives that enhance transportation options in the
Mid-State region.



•  Performed outreach activities to engage stakeholders and educate the
public.

•  Served as the liaison to state and local transit groups.
•  Facilitated transportation coordination among public, private, and

volunteer transit providers and stakeholders to enhance options for
consumers.

•  Marketed transportation services available to the Mid-State Region
residents.

• Organized and completed local and regional needs assessments to
Identify unmet transportation needs.

•  Reviewed barriers to transportation In the Mid-State Region and made
recommendations to resolve issues.

•  Assisted with organizing and carrying out the activities of the Mid-
State RCC sub-committees. Assisted with the facilitation of meetings
as assigned.

Mobility Manager Sept 2010 - Sep 2013
Community Action Program Beiknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
•  Promoted, enhanced and facilitated access to transportation services,

including integration and coordination of services for individuals with
disabilities, older adults, individuals with low English proficiency, low
income individuals and the general public.

•  Provided coordinated services to human service organizations,
Including individualized travel training and trip planning activities for
customers.

•  Advocated and promoted the use of the WTS, CAT, and RTS transit
systems with the general public, the business community, and human
service organizations.

•  Researched, secured, and managed grant funding and donations to
support transportation services.

•  Maintained close working relationships with all passenger transit
providers in the region to improve ride referrals and collaboration of
existing resources.

• Worked to improve access to jobs and employment support services
by identifying and reducing barriers preventing use of transportation.

•  Assisted in the development of transportation resources information
including, but not limited to, bus schedules, resource manuals,
brochures, Web pages, and signage Improvements.

,  Presented transportation resource information at community events

and conferences.

•  Conducted outreach to community organizations to identify unmet
needs.



•  Provided monthly training to transportation staff on topics including
customer service, disability awareness and dealing with difficult
passengers.

Independent Living Services Director Jan 2002 - Aug 2010
Granite State Independent Living
•  Responsible for the supervision and day to day activities of the

Independent Living Services case management program. These
services Included peer support and counseling, skills training, and
advocacy.

•  Responsible for the overall management of the Home
Access/Modifications, Adaptive Equipment program, funded by grants
and individual donations.

•  Developed and managed a travel training initiative to assist individuals
with disabilities gain better access to public transportation.

•  Provided disability awareness, people first language, and customer
service trainings to staff, community groups and transit providers.

•  Secured funding for new and on-going programs, including grant
writing and reporting.

•  Supervised, coached, and evaluated a service delivery staff comprised
of diverse personalities, (including staff located off-site), assuring the
quality and consistency of services which were provided.

•  Promoted the use of GSIL services through outreach, to the general
public, other service providers and professionals. Supervised the
development of brochures, presentation materials and other tools to
assist with outreach efforts.

•  Developed new services in response to needs evidenced in the market
place. Assessed the needs of the community, and conducted an annual
evaluation of consumer satisfaction with services.

•  Responsible for the preparation of quarterly and annual reports and
budgets.

Financial Case Manager
MIMS/Community and Vocational Outreach Worker 1996 -2001
White Mountain Mental Health and DD Services

• Assessed financial needs of individuals and assisted them in

enhancing, securing, and maintaining State and Federal benefits.
•  Served as a resource for other program staff handling benefits for

consumers.

• Maintained personally supportive relationships with individuals and
their families, without encouraging unnecessary dependence.

•  Interfaced effectively with community supports on behalf of the client.



•  Coordinated and innplemented treatment plans for mental health
consumers and their families.

•  Resolved routine client needs and problems in the community
independently.

EDUCATION

•  Certified Community Transit Manager (CCTM) through CCTA
•  Certified in Advanced Mobility Device Securement through the National

Transit Institute

•  Certified in Comprehensive ADA Paratransit Eligibility through the
National Transit Institute

•  Certified In Advanced Practices in Paratransit Service through Easter
Seals Project Action

•  Certified as Lead Trainer through Q'Staint
•  Certified as FTA Drug & Alcohol Reasonable Suspicion Referral

Supervisor
•  Certified Master Gardener through the UNH Cooperative Extension and

active presenter for the Master Gardener Speakers Bureau
•  Course work in Human Services Springfield College, Manchester, NH

(2002-04) and New Hampshire Community Technical College (1997-
2001)



Kathryn Nyx

Authorized to work in the US for any employer

Work Experience

Complimentary Transportation Coordinator
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack -Concord, NH

February 2025 to Present

• Promotes, enhances and facilitates access to transportation services, including integration and coordinating
services for individuals with disabilities, older adults, English-as-a-second language speakers, low-income individuals
and general public.

• Recruits, screens, onboards, trains, and supervises volunteer drivers.

• Assist Transportation Director with establishing and administering volunteer policies and procedures to assure the
implementations by training and surprising the volunteer drivers.

• Maintains ail documentation on Volunteers that include but is not limited to; data for riders, volunteer trips and
billable services.

•In collaboration with the Transportation Director and Administrative Assistant prepares and issues reports to
accommodate program needs specified by sponsors and funding sources.

•In collaboration with RMM, identifies unmet travel needs.

•In collaboration with the RMM performs marketing and public relation activities to promote all transportation
programs within Region 3.

•Works closely with other transportation providers to enhance coordination of rides.

• Provides individualized travel training and trip planning, including: mapping prospective travel routes: highlighting
the route and time schedules so that individuals can easily read the information that will be critical for them to
successfully negotiate their travel route.

• Plans a ride day with the individual. Set a meeting time at the appropriate bus stop and ride the route together to
identify key stops and transfers that the individual will need to use the system effectively. Repeat this individual ride
training as needed by the individual.

• Completes the Travel Training Final Evaluation" form with the Individual after the ride training.

• Using this evaluation form, prepare a written report on tiie individual stating the progress made and the
determination as to how successful the individual will be in using the system independently.

• Identifies transportation issues and makes recommendations to resolve transportation issues to the Director of
Transportation.

• Recruits and screens taxi providers In region 3. Supervises and facilitates the Taxi Voucher Program.

• Coordinates the eligibility process for the ADA Paratransit bus service, including accepting and processing
customer eligibility applications and facilitating eligibility determinations reviews with customers. Making
recommendations for customer eligibility to the Transportation Director.

Lead Guest specialist

Rapid refill-Loudon, NH

June 2024 to January 2025



• Implemented new training program for guest specialists, resulting in an increase in customer satisfaction.

• Developed and maintained strong relationships with customers, addressing any concems or issues promptly and
effectively

• Led a team of 5 guest specialists, providing guidance and support to ensure exceptional customer experiences

• Implemented new customer service strategies to increase overall customer satisfaction ratings
• Developed and delivered comprehensive training programs for new hires, improving their product knowledge and
communication skills

• Created and maintained a knowledge base system to provide quick and accurate responses to frequently asked
questions

• Developed strong relationships with key customers through regular check-ins and personalized encounters

• Trained new hires on job responsibilities, company policies, safety procedures, and customer service best practices
• Mentored and coached team members to improve their performance and achieve professional growth • Managed

budgetary responsibilities including forecasting, expense tracking, and resource allocation
• Oversaw inventory management processes to optimize stock levels while minimizing waste or shortages

• Maintained a safe working environment by enforcing safety regulations and conducting regular safety inspections

• Demonstrated strong leadership skills by effectively managing conflicts within the team

• Served as a point of contact between different departments/teams ensuring smooth communication flow

• Optimized workflow by reorganizing workstations/layouts resulting in improved productivity levels • Liaised with
clients/customersArendors/suppliers to address concems or resolve issues promptly

• Assumed managerial responsibilities In the absence of the manager, overseeing all aspects of operations
• Managed cash handling procedures, including opening/closing registers, preparing deposits, and reconciling
discrepancies

• Maintained accurate records of financial transactions including daily sales reports, invoices, receipts etc • Utilized
POS systems effectively to process orders accurately while maintaining a high level of efficiency
• Assisted in the recruitment, selection, and onboarding of new employees, ensuring a smooth transition Into the
team

Cleaner

Cardinal Cleaning-Contoocook, NH
June 2023 to Juiy 2024

• Performed thorough cleaning and sanitization of assigned areas. Including dusting, sweeping, mopping, and
vacuuming

• Maintained high standards of cleanliness and hygiene in accordance with company policies and industry regulations
• Utilized various cleaning equipment and supplies to achieve optimal results while ensuring the safety of self and
others

• Managed inventory of cleaning products and supplies, promptly restocking when necessary to avoid shortages
• Collaborated with team members to coordinate tasks efficiently and ensure timely completion of all assigned duties

• Followed established protocols for handling hazardous materials, adhering to safety guidelines at all times

• Responded promptly to customer requests or complaints regarding cleanliness issues, resolving problems
effectively

• Executed specialized cleaning procedures as required for specific areas such as kitchens, bathrooms, or medical
facilities

CSR • Customer Service Representative
vca russel animal hospital-Concord, NH

October 2022 to June 2024



• Greeted and checked in clients, ensuring a warm and welcoming atmosphere • Scheduled appointments for

veterinarians, efficiently managing the appointment calendar • Answered phone calls and addressed client

inquiries regarding services, pricing, and availability • Managed client records and updated information

accurately in the database system • Assisted with patient check-Ins by obtaining necessary medical history

and documentation • Processed payments for services rendered using cash, credit cards, or insurance claims

• Provided administrative support to veterinary staff by organizing files and maintaining office supplies inventory

• Educated clients on preventive care measures such as vaccinations, flea control, and dental hygiene practices

• Effectively communicated with pet owners about test results or treatment plans as directed by veterinarians

• Collaborated with veterinary technicians to ensure smooth workflow during patient visits • Maintained cleanliness of

reception area to create a comfortable environment for clients and their pets • Handled sensitive situations

professionally when dealing with upset or emotional clients • Coordinated prescription refills between veterinarians,

pharmacies, and pet owners as needed * Managed incoming/outgoing mail including sorting correspondence

• Scheduled follow-up appointments for patients requiring ongoing care or treatments • Performed

basic clerical tasks such as filing documents and photocopying records • Verified insurance

coverage details for patients prior to their appointments

• Maintained confidentiality of client information according to HIPAA regulations • Collaborated with other

receptionists to ensure seamless transitions during shift changes • Notified veterinarians promptly of any

urgent cases that required immediate attention • Fostered positive relationships with local rescue

organizations through regular communication

• Demonstrated strong customer sen/ice skills by providing compassionate and empathetic support to clients during
difficult times

Traffic Controller

American flagging and Traffic control-Hudson. NH

April 2022 to October 2022
I redirect people away from areas that are closed. Mainly just keep people safe

Hostess

Cheers-Concord, NH

November 2021 to April 2022

I am the person in charge of seating people, taking phone orders, checking bathrooms.

Kennel Technician

Darbster Doggy-Concord, NH

April 2020 to September 2021

• Provided compassionate care and attention to animals in a kennel setting, ensuring their comfort and well-being

• Administered medications as directed by veterinarians, maintaining accurate records of dosage and frequency

• Monitored the health and behavior of animals, promptly reporting any concerns or changes to veterinary staff

• Maintained cleanliness and sanitation of kennels, exam rooms, and common areas to prevent the spread of disease

• Educated pet owners on basic animal care practices such as grooming, nutrition, exercise routines, etc

• Collaborated with other team members to provide exceptional customer service experience for pet owners

• Performed basic grooming tasks such as nail trims and ear cleaning

• Implemented infection control protocols to minimize the risk of disease transmission within the facility • Maintained a

dean and organized work environment to ensure efficiency in daily operations

Register



True Confections-Concord, NH

January 2021 to June 2021

Customer Service, restocking, cleaning, scooping ice cream, making frappes.

Register

Wrap City Sandwich Company-Concord, NH

July 2020 to October 2020

I took people's orders and brought the food to them.

Hostess

The Post Restaurant-Concord, NH

June 2019 to April 2020

I was in charge of seating people, taking drink orders, bringing their food, and busing the tables.

Babysitting

None-Concord, NH

April 2016 to February 2020

Education

High school diploma In General
VLACS - Exeter, NH

August 2018 to May 2022

Skills

• People Person

• Patient

• Work well with others

• Loves animals

• Customer service

• Pet Care

• Kennel Experience

■ Babysitting

■ Childcare

• Animal Care

• Dog Handling

• Host/Hostess

• Veterinary Technician Experience •

Front Desk

• Pet Sitting

• Animal Handling

• Nannying

• Caregiving



• Cash Handling

• Communication skills

• Medical office experience •

Organizational skills

• Microsoft Office

• Phone etiquette

• Stocking

• Animal care

• Veterinary terminology

• Pet care

Certifications and Licenses

First Aid Certification

CPR Certification

Driver's License

January 2020 to Present


